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Chairman’s

Message

Thank you for the Faith, Trust and Confidence you have given to
your company DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
The past 2 years has indeed been a very exciting and meaningful
journey for all of us.
To start, I thought of personally sharing with you our creed, the 10
things that we are relentless about:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Sincerity of our Good Intentions towards the long term
benefit of all Stakeholders,
Intensive Macro Study and Grassroots Analysis of the
chosen field to conquer,
Clarity and Precision of Vision,
Thorough and Efficiently designed business strategy to
successfully navigate the stages that encompass
Start-Up, Transition, and Sustainability of the business,
Simplicity and Practicality of our Action Plan,
Intense Passion in Execution,
Fairness in all our Dealings,
Constant Learning and Collaboration,
Solid Commitment and Persistent Determination,
Dominance of chosen Industry for Generations to come.

We, your DoubleDragon Team will continue to be relentless in
making your company one of the largest and strongest property
companies in the Philippines.

As a new player in a hyper competitive business environment,
we are sure to come across roadblocks along the way, but we
are determined to break through them with sheer discipline and
willful persistence.
As we passionately navigate the business terrain ahead, we look
forward to not only meeting, but surpassing the goals that we have
set out.
Barely 2 years ago we only had 1 piece of property for our 2020
vision of accumulating a leasable portfolio of 1 million square
meters (100 hectares) of prime commercial and office space.
Today, DD’s Metro Manila projects: DD Meridian Park and Jollibee
Tower are now in full swing construction. These 2 Metro Manila
projects will contribute about 320,000 square meters of leasable
space.
DD’s provincial projects consist of 8 operational CityMalls and
24 additional CityMalls simultaneously under construction in
different parts of the country.
We envision CityMall to soon dominate the community mall
space in the Philippines.
We will continue to make the Impossible - Possible. And with your
continued Faith & Support, the Possibilities are simply Endless.

Rest assured that the decisions we make today, not only consider
the next five to ten years, but extend to broader horizons of the
decades to come.

Edgar “Injap” Sia II
Chairman and CEO
DoubleDragon Properties Corp.

Chairman’s Message

Message of the

Executive Committee
Dear DD Shareholders,

It is with immense gratitude that we write to you of the exciting milestones that DoubleDragon
Properties Corp. (“DD” or “Your Company”), has achieved:
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

In the past 2 years, we have successfully secured 51 or over half of the prime commercial lots
we need for our CityMall expansion in second and third-tier provincial cities and 100% of the
land needed for our Metro Manila office developments DD Meridian Park & Jollibee Tower
Our landbank has already grown to over 65 hectares essentially securing over 2/3rds of our
development requirements for our 2020 plan to develop 1 million square meters or 100
hectares of prime leasable space
We have developed and are now operating 9 malls (as of 21 July 2016) which include Dragon8
Mall in Divisoria and 8 CityMalls across Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao
We have successfully raised P15.4 Billion in long-term corporate notes and P10 Billion of
equity through preferred shares since IPO
Total Assets grew by 50% to P27.8 Billion in 2015 and Total Equity grew by 10% to P8.6B in 2015
Consolidated Net Income grew by 11% to P623 Million in 2015 while achieving Return on
Equity of 20%

In addition to the growth of our retail portfolio, last August 26, 2015, we signed a joint venture with
Jollibee Foods Corp. (“JFC”) to develop Jollibee Tower, a 41-storey Grade A office tower in the heart
of the Ortigas business district. Together with DD Meridian Park, our flagship office and commercial
block in the Bay Area, we have successfully secured all of the landbank needed for our intended
300,000 square meters of leasable office space in Metro Manila by 2020. Both projects are now
well under way with the first two phases of DD Meridian Park as well as Jollibee Tower expecting to
complete within 2018.
In preparation of the tremendous growth in our business, we are building our organization to
support the planned development of 1 million square meters of leasable space by 2020. To date,
the DoubleDragon team already consists of over 260 talented and dynamic individuals that have
been handpicked and carefully placed in areas where they can excel. Our team is united in our drive
to fulfill our vision and we have instilled a value system that upholds the integrity of Your Company
first and foremost.
We have further ensured efficient operations by investing in a new SAP Enterprise Resource
Planning (“ERP”) system, which will aid us in integrating the key business functions within the
organization. We are happy to report that the new SAP ERP system is now live and the platform is
foreseen to be sufficient for our accounting requirements in the years to come.
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As shown in the charts above, Your Company is indeed in its hyper growth years showing exponential
compounded annual growth (CAGR) just in the past three years. This strong trajectory in fundamentals coupled
with a focused vision for the future and clearly laid out execution plans have been one of the strong drivers behind
the appreciation of DD’s stock price.
2015 marked another significant year for us in terms of fund-raising. We were able to continue to raise long-term
peso-denominated 7 to 8 years corporate notes. To date we have raised P15.4 Billion in long-term corporate
notes and P10 Billion of equity through our recently issued preferred share offering. The latest offering will fuel our
expansion plans up to 2017 and has substantially decreased our debt-to-equity (“D/E”) ratio to a healthy level of
just a little over 1x D/E ratio which leaves us ample headroom to our cap of 2.33x D/E.
We have also been particularly active in meeting with both local and international equity investors to increase
awareness of our business model and to uphold transparency with the investing public. We have participated in
several investor conferences and non-deal roadshows across Asia and in the United States and have met with
over 200 institutional investors just in the past twelve months.
These investor awareness initiatives are seen to have also contributed to the continued strengthening of DD’s
stock performance as well as the notable increase in DD’s daily stock trading volumes.
We maintain our steadfast dedication in growing Your Company’s business and will continue to do all we can to
ensure efficient execution of our well laid out plans.
We are one with you in your belief that your company DoubleDragon Properties Corp will continue to create
extraordinary performance along the way en route to its continued exponential growth.
Yours truly,
DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP.

Edgar J. Sia II

Chairman and CEO

Ferdinand J. Sia
President

The Executive Management Committee

Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia
Chief Finance Officer

Marriana H. Yulo

Chief Investment Officer

Message of the Executive Committee

5 Year Goal

(20/20Vision)
1, 000, 000 square meters of leasable space

The Company’s vision is to accumulate 1 Million square meters of leasable space
by 2020 primarily through the rollout of one hundred (100) community malls across
provincial cities in the Philippines through its community mall chain brand “CityMall”
and through the development of two office projects, DD Meridian Plaza and Jollibee
Tower, both of which are located in prime locations within Metro Manila.

Metro Manila Office
DD Meridian Park + Jollibee Tower

30%

Provincial Retail
100 CityMalls

70%

Year 2020
Non-Recurring Revenue

10%

Recurring Revenue

90%

Once completed, DoubleDragon will be one of the few property companies
that will derive 90% of its income from recurring revenue sources.
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Shareholders

Assets and Capital

Injap Investments Inc.

P27.8 Billion

P8.6 Billion

Assets

Equity

Honeystar Holdings Corp.

P960 Million

P19.9 Billion

(Tan Family)

Cash

Investment
Properties

26%

(Sia Family)

37%

37%

Public Float

P13.9 Billion

Long-term Notes Issued

20/20

DoubleDragon

Vision

CityMalls ( as of July 2016) Projects

1 Million sqm

51

Metro Manila Office

Of leasable space

Prime Commercial Sites

DD Meridian Park

100

8

CityMalls

Operational

P4.8B

24

In Net Profit

Under Construction

Phase 1 - DoubleDragon Plaza
Opening 2018 - 130,000 sqm
Phase 2 - DoubleDragon Center
North & West
Opening 2018 – 30,000sqm (approx)

Jollibee Tower
March 2016 - Groundbreaking
Completing 2018 - 48,000sqm
(DD Share)

Organization
260+

8

2

2

Headcount

Board of Directors

Independent Directors

Advisers to the Board

Lorem ipsum
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. was founded by two visionaries both born in the Year of the
Dragon, Chairman Edgar ‘Injap’ Sia II and Co-Chairman Tony Tan Caktiong. The two dragons
lead the company’s transformation into one of the largest and strongest property companies
in the country.
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04 DoubleDragon Annual Report

The Dragon prides itself as the most noble and omniscient animal in the Chinese zodiac, being
highly revered for their inherent wisdom, courage, authority and leadership. The emblem
showing two Dragons spiraling together signifies the continuum of the core foundations &
principles of the old, and the best rising trends and talents of today’s world. The Annual Report
takes form with a symbolic green theme for this year, as this represents the green stone
Jade, which was likened to virtue by the Chinese philosopher Confucius as brilliant, pure,
intelligent, and heavenly. As the two Jade Dragons spiral perpetually in a Heaven of prosperity
and opportunity, so does the determination of the Company’s current milestones and future
endeavors for the coming years.

Mission
We will reach 1 Million square meters of leasable space by 2020
significantly through the rollout of 100 CityMalls and the completion
of DD Meridian Park & Jollibee Tower.
We will uplift the lives of our fellow Filipinos through the development
of projects across the country.
We will build and develop a strong and dynamic organization through
the creation of a working environment that both motivates and inspires
excellence in everyone.

Our

CoreValues
We believe in profitability through sincerity, integrity, hard work and
fairness in all of our dealings.
We believe in upholding the trust and confidence of our investors
through transparency and prudent management of resources.
We believe in embarking only in ventures that will endure the test of
time and remain relevant for generations to come.
We believe in fostering a company culture engrained in mutual
respect, collaboration and overall development of employees.
We believe in consistently delivering quality products and services
that delight the customers we serve.
We believe in promoting sustainable development through the use of
‘green’ technology in our projects.

Mission & Core Values
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2012

September

DoubleDragon acquires W.H. Taft
Residences, its first interim project
in Metro Manila

July

SM Investments Corp. (“SM”)
acquires 34% of CityMall
and becomes partners with
DoubleDragon

Injap Land Corporation was renamed
DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
(“DoubleDragon”)

2009

2013

December

December

Injap Land Corporation
was registered with
the Securities and
Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) as the property
company of the Sia
family led by Edgar Sia II
(“Injap”)
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2014

February

2012

2012

August

Honeystar Holdings Corp. the
holding company led by Jollibee’s
Tony Tan Caktiong buys 50% of
DoubleDragon and becomes
partners with Injap

DoubleDragon Annual Report

CityMall Commercial Centers Inc.
(“CityMall”) is incorporated to serve as
the Company’s vehicle to roll out 100
community malls across the country.
CityMall acquires first CityMall project
site in Roxas City

2014

April

Initial Public Offering
of 580 million shares
at P2.00 per share

2014

May

2015

March

DoubleDragon acquires
unfinished building in
Divisoria to redevelop
Dragon8 Mall

First CityMall opens in
Arnaldo-Roxas City

2014

September

2015

May

DoubleDragon raises
P7.4B in seven-year
fixed rate corporate
notes

DoubleDragon raises P5B in sevenyear fixed rate corporate notes

2014

2015

June

DoubleDragon signs a
joint venture to develop
4.75 hectare “DD Meridian
Park” in the Bay Area, its
flagship office project in
Metro Manila

May
2014

October

Construction of
DoubleDragon Plaza,
the first phase of
DD Meridian Park,
commences

DoubleDragon takes
over unfinished
38-storey The SkySuites
Tower in Quezon City

Timeline

07

2015

July

2015

DoubleDragon raises
P1.5B in eight-year fixed
rate corporate notes

2015

DoubleDragon stock reaches $1
Billion in market capitalization

2015

August

DoubleDragon partners
with Jollibee to develop Jollibee
Tower in the Ortigas Central
Business District completing
its Metro Manila office portfolio

June

Dragon8 Mall opens
in Divisoria

2015

2015

May

August

Second CityMall opens
in Consolacion Cebu

Third CityMall Opens in
Anabu-Imus Cavite

2015

July

DoubleDragon moves up
listing to the PSE Main Board
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2015

September

Fourth CityMall Opens
in Tetuan-Zamboanga

2016

2015

April

October

DoubleDragon offers P10B
subscriptions to preferred shares

Fifth CityMall Opens in
Tagbak-Jaro Iloilo

2016

2016

March

May

Construction of Jollibee
Tower commences

Seventh CityMall opens
in Tiaong, Quezon

2016

2016

March

July

DoubleDragon raises P1.5B in eightyear fixed rate corporate notes

2015

November

DoubleDragon is included in
the MSCI Small Cap Index

Eighth CityMall opens
in Parola, Iloilo

2016

April

Sixth CityMall opens
in Kalibo, Aklan

Timeline

09

CityMall Kalibo

CityMall Boracay
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Project Update

CityMall

CityMall Commercial Centers Inc. (CMCCI), is a subsidiary of DoubleDragon Properties Corp. (DD), and will
serve as company’s development arm for its community mall chain brand ‘CityMall’. CMCCI is 66% owned
by DD and 34% owned by SM Investments Corp. (SMIC).
CityMall is envisioned to become the largest independently branded community mall chain in the
Philippines. Each CityMall is built with an average floor area of 7,000 – 10,000 square meters, and will
be located in prime provincial city centers mostly in the Visayas and Mindanao region. The first CityMall
opened its doors to the public in Roxas City, Capiz last March 27, 2015. This marked the start of a series
of CityMall openings across the country. As of July 2016, there are already 8 operational CityMalls across
Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao.
CityMall will not only provide prime spaces to the top Philippine fast food brands such as Jollibee, Mang
Inasal, Chowking, Greenwich, Red Ribbon and Highlands Coffee, but will also serve as a platform for the
provincial expansion of modern retail brands such as Savemore, Ace Hardware, Watson’s, SM Appliance,
SM Simply Shoes, BDO, and Chinabank Savings. CityMall is poised to become a brand that every Filipino can
be proud of.
Generally, all CityMalls have the same look and feel, providing continuity and even consistency in the quality
of its tenant base. Each CityMall has a foodcourt concept, ‘FoodWorld’, which will bring together the top
fastfood brands such as Jollibee, Mang Inasal, Chowking, Greenwich, Red Ribbon and Highlands Coffee.
CityMalls have the distinct feature of being “Greenergized”, whenever possible, solar panels are installed
in the roofdeck of each mall while water is sourced through a rainwater harvesting system. The company
believes in promoting sustainable development through “Greenergizing” its projects.
CityMall differentiates itself from other malls by choosing prime and strategic locations in the heart of every
provincial city in the country. Location and accessibility to customers is the key to the successful rollout
of CityMalls in the country. Each CityMall site is meticulously chosen by DoubleDragon’s Chairman, Edgar
‘Injap’ Sia II. Mr. Sia was the driving force behind the successful rollout of 338 outlets of fastfood chain Mang
Inasal within its first seven years of operations.
Despite being a new mall developer, DoubleDragon was able to design and execute a well-built community
mall concept that is expected to change the landscape of second and third tier provincial cities for
generations to come.
To date, the Company has already secured 51 CityMall sites in prime locations across provincial Philippines.
CityMall is poised to become the “Everyday Mall” of the future.

CityMall
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51 CityMall sites secured
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Month

Special Feature

Sixth CityMall opens in Kalibo
On Apil 25, 2016, Monday, CityMall - Kalibo opened its doors to the public in Kalibo, Aklan. The new
community mall is open daily from 9am to 9pm. Major locators are SM Savemore, Jollibee, Chowking,
Mang Inasal, Highlands Coffee, Watsons Pharmacy, Ace Hardware, RRJ Apparel, Expressions Bookstore,
Nami Souvenir Shop, SM Simply Shoes, Universal Eye Check, Le Salon, Ministop, BDO Bank, Fun Nation
Amusement, & SM Appliance.
Watch out for more CityMalls coming soon near you!
CityMall is set to dominate the community mall industry in the Philippines.

CityMall
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Project Update

Jollibee Tower

This premium Grade A 41-storey commercial and office tower is
poised to become a prominent landmark in the Ortigas Central
Business District by 2018.
Situated on a 3,002 square meter prime commercial lot located
at the corner of F. Ortigas Jr. Road (formerly Emerald Avenue) and
Garnet Road, Jollibee Tower will complement the thriving business
community in the Ortigas Area. Offering over 48,000 square meters
of leasable space by 2018, Jollibee Tower features ground floor food
concepts and a drive-thru provision as well as an events center.
The rest of the floors will be leased as office space and will include
sufficient parking to service tenant requirements.
The tower will be designed as a Grade A structure and is expected
to secure Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED)
certification in line with DoubleDragon’s core values in promoting
sustainable developments through “green” technology. The exterior
of the building will be made of double-glazed glass curtain walls
for increased energy efficiency. Construction is in full-swing since
its ground breaking last March 7, 2016 while completion is targeted
within 2018.

Jollibee Tower
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Jollibee Tower is a joint venture project between DoubleDragon
Properties Corp. and Jollibee Foods Corporation.
Its modern building features and amenities will bring renewed
innovation in the area.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Total Gross Floor Area of 6 hectares
Sizeable Floor Plates – approx. 1,600-1,800 sqm
High floor efficiency – approx. 80-90 sq m
3 meter height clearance for offices
Garden deck and helipad
Over 1,000 parking slots
Air-conditioned VRF system with individual settling control
100% back-up power
CCTV and automatic fire alarm and sprinkler system
Double-glazed windows that will provide natural light
and reduce utility consumption

From Left to Right: Hannah Yulo, Rizza Marie Sia, Gary Cheng, Susan Tanmantiong, Ferdinand Sia, Ang Cho Sit, Tony Tan Caktiong, Injap Sia, William Tan Untiong, Ernesto Tanmantiong,
Joseph Tanbuntiong, Engr. Sie Diet, Architect Jose Siao Ling, Romeo Bachoco

Jollibee Tower
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Project Update

DoubleDragon Plaza at DD Meridian Park
DD Meridian Park is a 4.75-hectare prime commercial block in the
Bay Area. Catering to the expansion of thriving businesses, the
project will provide ample leasable space of up to 280,000 square
meters by 2020.
DD Meridian Park will be constructed in four phases, and will feature
the following:
Phase
1
2
3-4

Features
DoubleDragon Plaza
DoubleDragon Center North and West
TBA
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The first phase of the project is DoubleDragon Plaza, which is an 11
storey office complex with over 130,000 square meters of leasable
space. Four office towers will sit atop a retail podium each with its
own private lobby and elevators providing ample privacy and ideal
accessibility for its tenants. The development is now in full-swing
and slated for completion by 2018.
As a show of commitment to the standards it upholds,
DoubleDragon Plaza is aiming for Leadership in Energy &
Environmental Design (LEED) certification. LEED is a green
building certification program that recognizes best-in-class
building strategies and practices. The complex will promote a
healthier environment for all of its locators. The entire structure
is designed to have a lasting positive impact whilst promoting
renewable, clean energy.

DoubleDragon Plaza at DD Meridian Park
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Actual photos as of June 30, 2016

20

DoubleDragon Annual Report

We are on schedule with the topping off of Tower 1 this coming
September 2016 whereas towers 2 to 4 will be topped off every 2
months thereafter until the completion of DoubleDragon Plaza on
early 2018. As of this time, Tower 1 is on its 7th floor of construction
out of 11 floors.
Aside from this being the flagship project of DoubleDragon
Properties Corp, we are proud to say that the complex is molded
into an environmental friendly structure which is inline with
sustainable developments of the future.
In addition to being a green building, the structure is primely
located not only in the Bay Area but as well as the entire Metro
Manila. This should surely entice locators who would like to have a
prime and upbeat office address.
The ground floor will house a string of interesting food selections
coupled with a 500 slot basement parking dedicated to support
the commercial locators. The 2nd and 3rd floors are podium
parking floors dedicated for the office locators. The towers have
big floor plates starting from the 5th to 11th office floors. Modern
landscaped gardens are provided in between each tower with
individual modern lobbies that all have direct access to the
ground floor commercial area where everyone is expected to
merge and converge.

DoubleDragon Plaza at DD Meridian Park
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Board of

Directors

Edgar J. Sia II

• Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer
• 39 years old, Filipino
• Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Injap Investments Inc.
• Founder of Mang Inasal Philippines, Inc.

Tony Tan Caktiong
•
•
•
•
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Director, Co-Chairman
63 years old, Filipino
Chairman of Honeystar Holdings Corporation
Founder and Chairman of Jollibee Foods Corp.

Ferdinand J. Sia

• Director, President
• 37 years old, Filipino
• President and Chief Operating
Officer of Injap Investments Inc.
• Director and President of Mang Inasal
Philippines , Inc., 2006-2016
• Graduated from the University of the
Philippines Visayas with a degree in
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science
• Took up Law in Arellano University
School of Law

William Tan
•
•
•
•

Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia

Untiong

Director and Corporate Secretary
Age 62, Filipino
Director of Jollibee Foods Corp
Serves as a Director and Treasurer
of Honeystar Holdings Corporation
• Vice President for Real Estate of
Jollibee Foods Corp. since 1989
• Appointed as Chief Real Estate
Officer in 2015

• Director, Treasurer and Chief
Finance Officer
• 26 years old, Filipino
• Treasurer and Chief Finance Officer
of Injap Investments Inc.
• Graduated from the University of the
Philippines Visayas with a degree in
Bachelor of Science in Accountancy
• A Certified Public Accountant

Board of Directors
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Board of

Directors

Joseph Tanbuntiong

• Director
• Age 53, Filipino
• President of Jollibee Philippines
starting July 1, 2013
• Former President of Red Ribbon
Philippines, having served there
since 2008
• Graduated from Ateneo de
Manila University with a degree
in Management Engineering
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Gary P. Cheng

• Independent Director
• 52 years old, Filipino
• An investment banking professional
with over 20 years of corporate
finance and capital markets
experience
• Managing Director and Co-founder
of Fortman Cline Capital Markets
Limited, 2007 - present
• President/CEO of Amalgamated
Investment Bancorporation,
2003 & 2008
• former Vice President of
Investments Banking of J.P Morgan,
1993 - 2002 where he was variously
based in Hong Kong, New York and
London
• Doctorate degree in Philosophy from
University of Leeds, England, 1991

Vicente S. Perez, Jr.

• 58 years old, Filipino
• Independent Director
• CEO of Alternergy and Chairman of
Merritt Partners
• Managing Head of the Board of
Investments of Department of Trade
and Industry, 2001
• The youngest and longest
serving Secretary of the Philippines
Department of Energy
• Chairman of the National Advisory
Council of WWF-Philippines
• Member of the WWF-International
board
• Obtained an MBA from the Wharton
Business School of the University of
Pennsylvania, 1983
• Had a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Economics from the University of
the Philippines, 1979

Ernesto Tanmantiong

• Adviser of the Board
• 57 years old, Filipino
• President and Chief Executive Officer
of Jollibee Foods Corporation
• Director of Fresh N’ Famous Foods,
Inc., BK Titans, Inc., Red Ribbon
Bakeshop, Inc., RRB Holdings, Inc.,
Grandworth Resources Corporation,
Honeystar Holding Corp. and various
other companies.

Chief Justice Artemio V.

Panganiban

• Adviser of the Board
• 79 years old, Filipino
• Retired Chief Justice of the Republic
of the Philippines
• Independent Director of Meralco,
Petron Corporation, First Philippine
Holdings Corp., Philippine Long
Distance Telephone Company
(PLDT), Metro Pacific Investment
Corp., and GMA Network, Inc.,
among others

Board of Directors
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Executive

Committee

Edgar J. Sia II

Chairman and CEO

Ferdinand J. Sia
President

Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia
Chief Finance Officer

Marriana H. Yulo

Chief Investment Officer
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Executive Committee
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Management

Committee

From Left to Right

Jimson Karl O. Lim

Virgilio B. Casio

Eloisah Rose L. Villa

Virginia P. Oasan

Debra M. Ledesma

Ryan B. Guitche

Pearl Anne A. Escote

Joselito L. Barrera Jr.

Jose Roelph E. Desales

Charnette C. Afable

Head, Procurement

Head, Accounting (CityMall)

Project Head

Head, Corporate Services

Assistant CFO
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Head, Security

Head, Leasing

Head, Information Technology

Head, Legal

GM, Property Management

From Left to Right

Hera Rose Barrameda

Ellena R. Mercado

Krystelle O. Bolivar

Gerda Grace C. Galloniga

Arnold P. Balba

Josef D. Osurman

Alex A. Vergara

Franchette M. Espiritu

Lea R. Suberon

Honorio Alvarez Jr.

Head, Sales

Head, Treasury & Corporate Planning

AVP, Engineering

Technical Head, DDPMC

Head, Internal Audit

Head, Marketing

Head, Accounting (DD)

Head, Engineering (CityMall Projects)

Head, Design

GM, Happy Homes

Management Committee
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Corporate

Governance
On 12 November 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company approved and adopted a Manual of Corporate Governance
in compliance with the requirements of the Revised Code of Corporate Governance under SEC Memorandum Circular
No. 6, Series of 2009. Below is a diagram of our Corporate Governance Structure:

Advisers to the Board
Chief Justice Artemio Panganiban
& Ernesto Tanmantiong

Audit Committee
Chairman Gary P. Cheng
Member Ferdinand J. Sia
Member Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia

Assurance providers:
Internal Audit
Lea R. Suberon
External Audit
Manabat, Sanagustin & Co.
(KPMG Philippines)

Shareholders

Nomination Committee
Chairman Chief Justice Artemio V. Panganiban
Member Ferdinand J. Sia
Member Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia
Member Gary P. Cheng

Board of

Directors
CEO, CFO

Compensation Committee

and Management Team

Chairman Ernesto Tanmantiong
Member Vicente S. Perez, Jr
Member Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia

Board of Directors
Edgar J. Sia II
Tony Tan Caktiong
Ferdinand J. Sia
Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia
William Tan Untiong
Joseph Tanbuntiong
Gary P. Cheng
Vicente S. Perez, Jr.

Director, Chairman and CEO
Director, Co-Chairman
Director, President
Director, Treasurer and CFO
Director, and Corporate Secretary
Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

Advisers to the Board of Directors
Chief Justice Artemio V. Panganiban
Ernesto Tanmantiong
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Corporate

Social Responsibility
DoubleDragon Properties Corp. is focused on integrating
Corporate Social Responsibility by supporting Jollibee’s
Foundation with their programs of nurturing and educating the
people living in the communities that they serve by bringing out
the best in their entrepreneurial skills.
Education
Make quality education accessible for the less fortunate
Youth
Empower the youth by bridging them to employment and
entrepreneurship
Entrepreneurship
Nurture a mindset of entrepreneurship among people
Our Commitment
As a socially responsible company, we rebuild communities by:
Implementing interventions that will encourage and
•
empower the youth to be successful in their work
and ultimately as entrepreneurs.
•
Bring people together- the core of every community – and
help them restore their dignity.
•
Cultivate and nurture a workplace that values social good.
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(1) DoubleDragon and Jollibee Group Foundation (JGF) has
entered into a partnership to help communities move forward in
their development with sustainable results. With the support of
DoubleDragon, JGF was able to expand its flagship initiative – the
Farmer Entrepreneurship Program (FEP). FEP aims to increase the
income of smallholder farmers by linking them to the supply chain
of institutional markets such as Jollibee Foods Corporation (JFC).
Since its launch in 2008, FEP has facilitated the training of 1,816
smallholder farmers on agro-enterprise development and enabled
20 farmer groups to deliver to 20 institutional markets including JFC.
In 2015, 12 farmer groups delivered white onions, salad tomatoes,
green bell peppers, hot peppers, calamansi, cabbage, Baguio beans,
sayote, Chinese cabbage (pechay), and carrots to JFC, reaching a
combined total of 950 metric tons, amounting to more than P43
million in value. These farmers gained a 200 to 500% increase in net
income from their sales. One-fourth of all vegetable produce used by
JFC for the year was purchased directly from farmer cooperatives.
Over the years, DoubleDragon’s contribution to FEP, has helped
build the capacities of partner farmer groups. Eight farmer groups
attended the 14th National Vegetable Congress in Cagayan de Oro
City. The conference helped the farmer participants to look beyond
their own communities and gain a better understanding of the
vegetable farming industry on a national and international scale.
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(2) Michael Regencia , Chairman of the Caoayan Onion Growers
and Producers Cooperative in Ilocos Norte underscored the value
of what he has learned from FEP.
“Bilang magsasaka, malaking pinagbago sa buhay ko dahil sa
programa na ito. Sa pagkatao ko pa lang, dati hindi ako palaimik,
mahiyain akong tao. Wala naman po akong pinag-aralan. Sa
pamamagitan ng mga training at seminar, natutunan ko kung
paano makisalamuha sa iba’t-ibang tao, kahit mga institutional
buyer, at kung paano mag-handle ng isang kooperatiba. Sa buhay
ko naman, nakikita ko na unti-unting umaangat yung kabuhayan
namin. Masasabi ko na pagdating ng araw, may maayos na
kinabukasan akong maibibigay sa mga anak ko lalo na sa kanilang
pag-aaral.” (As a farmer, the FEP program has made a big impact
on my life. I used to be quiet, and hesitant to talk to people; I was
not able to finish school. Through [FEP] trainings and seminars,
I learned how to communicate with people from all walks of life,
even institutional buyers, and now manage a cooperative. In terms
of our livelihood, I can see that we are continuously growing. I am
confident that I will be able to provide my children a better future
especially their education.”), shared Michael. Moving forward, JGF
and DoubleDragon are working on education initiatives to help
promote access to education including scholarships for technical
skills training in Metro Manila and classroom building construction
in Guimaras, Roxas City and Cotabato City.

(1) The Farmer Entrepreneurship Program, works with local government units, micro-finance institutions
and community organizations to provide well-rounded support to smallholder farmers.

(2) Through the Farmer Entrepreneurship Program smallholder farmers are given the chance to increase their income by supplying directly
to institutional buyers such as Jollibee Foods Corporation.

Corporate Governance

33

Jollibee Group Foundation (JGF) was established by Jollibee Foods
Corporation (JFC) in 2004 as an expression of its commitment
to community development. As the social responsibility arm of
the country’s largest food company, JGF focuses on food-related
programs for communities. Inspired by the business principle of
Creating Shared Value, JGF capitalizes on the business objectives
and core competencies of JFC and implements programs that
create valuable and meaningful impact in the communities it serves.
From agriculture and education, to disaster relief and rehabilitation,
JGF endeavors to implement programs with impact and
sustainability that help people live dignified lives, achieve dreams
and actively participate in nation-building.
The Farmer Entrepreneurship Program enables smallholder farmers to directly supply to
institutional buyers such as Jollibee Foods Corporation.
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R.G. Manabat & Co.
The KPMG Center, 9/F
6787 Ayala Avenue
Makati City 1226, Metro Manila, Philippines

Report of Independent Auditors

Branches: Subic · Cebu • Bacolod · Iloilo

Corner Macapagal Avenue and EDSA Extension Boulevard
Brgy. 76 Zone 10, San Rafael, Pasay City, Metro Manila

Telephone
Fax		
Internet
E-Mail		

+63 (2) 885 7000
+63 (2) 894 1985
www.kpmg.com.ph
ph-inquiry@kpmg.com

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
DD Meridian Park Bay Area

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DoubleDragon
Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statements changes in equity, and consolidated
statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2015, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of DoubleDragon
Properties Corp. and Subsdiaries as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

R.G. MANABAT & CO.
JOSE P. JAVIER, JR.
Partner
CPA License No. 0070807
SEC Accreditation No. 0678-AR-2, Group A, valid until March 05, 2017
Tax Identification No. 112-071-224
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-16-2014
Issued January 22, 2014; valid until January 21, 2017
PTR No. 5320749MD
Issued January 4, 2016 at Makati City
April 14, 2016
Makati City, Metro Manila
R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent firms
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG International provides
no client services. No member firm has any authority to obligate or bind KPMG International or any other member
firm vis-à-vis third parties, nor does KPMG International have any such authority to obligate or bind any member
firm. All rights reserved.
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until December 31, 2016
SEC Accreditation No. 0004-FR-4, Group A, valid until November 10, 2017
IC Accreditation No. F-2014/014-R, valid until August 26, 2017
BSP Accredited, Category A, valid until December 17, 2017
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R.G. Manabat & Co.
The KPMG Center, 9/F
6787 Ayala Avenue
Makati City 1226, Metro Manila, Philippines
Branches: Subic · Cebu • Bacolod · Iloilo
Telephone
Fax		
Internet
E-Mail		

+63 (2) 885 7000
+63 (2) 894 1985
www.kpmg.com.ph
ph-inquiry@kpmg.com

Report of Independent Auditors to Accompany
Consolidated Financial Statements for Filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
DD Meridian Park Bay Area

Corner Macapagal Avenue and EDSA Extension Boulevard
Brgy. 76 Zone 10, San Rafael, Pasay City, Metro Manila
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of
DoubleDragon Properties Corp. (the “Company”) and Subsidiaries as at and for
the year ended December 31, 2015, on which we have rendered our report dated
April 14, 2016.
In compliance with Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, As Amended, we are
stating that the said Company has a total number of 98 stockholders owning one
hundred (100) or more shares each.

R.G. MANABAT & CO.
JOSE P. JAVIER, JR.
Partner
CPA License No. 0070807
SEC Accreditation No. 0678-AR-2, Group A, valid until March 05, 2017
Tax Identification No. 112-071-224
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-16-2014
Issued January 22, 2014; valid until January 21, 2017
PTR No. 5320749MD
Issued January 4, 2016 at Makati City
May 30, 2016
Makati City, Metro Manila
R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent firms
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG International provides
no client services. No member firm has any authority to obligate or bind KPMG International or any other member
firm vis-à-vis third parties, nor does KPMG International have any such authority to obligate or bind any member
firm. All rights reserved.
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until December 31, 2016
SEC Accreditation No. 0004-FR-4, Group A, valid until November 10, 2017
IC Accreditation No. F-2014/014-R, valid until August 26, 2017
BSP Accredited, Category A, valid until December 17, 2017
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of

Financial Position
Assets

Note

2015

2014

6, 28

P960, 459, 833

P3, 817, 191, 234

7, 28, 31

719, 103, 845

555, 323, 126

Real estate inventories

8

2, 640, 403, 512

2, 243, 407, 876

Leasehold rights

9

-

205, 115, 350

22, 28

58, 567, 380

1, 030, 070

10, 14, 23, 28, 31

1, 282, 725, 181

600,244,952

5, 661, 259, 751

7, 422, 312, 608

7, 28

458, 709, 355

206, 412, 606

Property and equipment - net

11

145, 751, 214

95, 859, 524

Computer software licenses and goodwill - net

12

94, 347, 435

68, 960, 899

Investment property

13

19, 929, 916, 375

10, 467, 018, 818

25, 31

418, 809, 603

43, 166, 862

14, 23, 28

1, 054, 534, 129

214, 318, 101

22, 102, 068, 111

11, 095, 736, 810

P27, 763, 327, 862

P18, 518, 049, 418

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables - net

Due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net

Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion

Deferred tax assets
Other noncurrent assets

Total Noncurrent Assets
Forward
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Liabilities and Equity

Note

2015

2014

8, 15, 28

P1, 603, 262, 410

P840, 247, 846

16, 28

4, 274, 000, 000

649, 000, 000

17

57, 805, 095

230, 608, 277

22, 28

553, 660, 373

280, 679, 292

699, 571

12, 223, 080

6,489,427,449

2, 012, 758, 495

16, 28

11, 114, 499, 192

7, 729, 243, 372

Customers’ deposits - net of current portion

17

111, 346, 839

176, 410, 072

Retirement benefits liability

24

4, 983, 866

-

Deferred tax liabilities

25, 31

785, 147, 211

216, 536, 348

Other noncurrent liabilities

18, 28

613, 446, 150

552, 925, 699

12, 629, 423, 258

8, 675, 115, 491

P19, 118, 850, 707

10, 687, 873, 986

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Short-term notes payable
Current portion of customers’ deposits
Due to related parties
Income tax payable

Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term notes payable - net of debt issue costs

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Capital stock

27

P222, 973, 000

P222, 973, 000

Additional paid-in capital

27

1, 358, 237, 357

1, 358, 237, 357

Retained earnings

27

1, 174, 325, 142

661, 823, 627

-

(2,602,254)

-

2, 29

2, 752, 933, 245
5, 891, 543, 910

2, 243, 033, 984
5, 587, 141, 448

8, 644, 477, 155

7, 830, 175, 432

P27, 763, 327, 862

P18, 518, 049, 418

Remeasurement loss on defined benefit liability - net of tax

Non-controlling Interests

Total Equity
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of

Income
Income

Note

2015

2014

2013

Unrealized gains from changes in fair values
of investment property

13

P811, 063, 913

455, 732, 211

127, 161, 634

Real estate sales

22

641, 470, 191

1, 073, 008, 556

511, 069, 901

9, 13

139, 713, 804

140, 493, 171

-

6, 7, 14

120, 857, 833

30, 644, 040

18, 867, 956

11, 13, 18, 23

116, 545, 653

6, 046, 194

4, 029, 842

-

69, 295, 227

-

-

29, 988, 318

4, 577, 884

806, 514

1, 928, 934, 939

1, 710, 502, 056

661, 935, 847

21

428, 602, 219

200, 830, 656

84, 963, 724

8, 19

370, 604, 075

573, 338, 423

373, 754, 564

Interest expense

15, 16, 18

114, 353, 234

37, 501, 634

9, 123, 095

Selling expenses

20

113, 030, 897

70, 679, 172

23, 616, 394

9, 13, 19

8, 364, 736

24, 073, 820

-

1, 034, 955, 161

906, 423, 705

491, 457, 777

893, 979, 778

804, 078, 351

170, 478, 070

Leasehold rights’ sales
Interest income
Rent income
Other income from forfeitures
Others

Costs and Expenses
General and administrative expenses
Cost of real estate sales

Cost of leasehold rights

Income Before Income Tax
Income Tax Expense

25

Current

-

93, 875, 651

116, 808, 650

24, 010, 409

Deferred

-

177, 321, 390

126, 422, 153

24, 412, 953

271, 197, 041

243, 230, 803

48, 423, 362

P622, 782, 737

P560, 847, 548

P122, 054, 708

-

559, 405, 589

555, 890, 174

106, 649, 057

1, 29

63, 377, 148

4, 957, 374

15, 405, 651

-

P622, 782, 737

P560, 847, 548

P122, 054, 708

26

P0.2509

P0.2835

P0.8632

Net Income
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share
Forward
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Net Income
Other Comprehensive Income
Item that will Never be
Reclassified to Profit or Loss
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit liability
Deferred tax effect on remeasurement loss on
defined benefit liability

Total Comprehensive Income
Net of Tax

Note

24

2015

2014

2013

P622, 782, 737

P560, 847, 548

P122, 054, 708

(3, 717, 505)

-

-

1, 115, 251

-

-

(2, 602, 254)

-

-

P620,180,483

P560, 847, 548

P122, 054, 708

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of

Changes in Equity for theYears Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Note

2015
Number
of Shares

Amount

2014
Number
of Shares

Amount

2013
Number
of Shares

Amount

Equity Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Parent Company
Capital Stock

27

Authorized Common shares
- P0.10 par value

5,000,000,000 P500, 000, 000 5,000,000,000

Issued and outstanding shares
Balance at beginning of year

2,229,730,000

222, 973, 000

Stock issuances during the year

-

-

Change in par value - P1 to P0.10
Change in par value - P100 to P1

Balance at end of year
Additional Paid-in Capital

P500,000,000

500,000,000

P500,000,000

165, 000, 000

165,000,000

600,000

P60,000,000

579, 730, 000

57, 973, 000

105, 000, 000

105, 000, 000

-

- 1, 485, 000, 000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

59, 400, 000

-

222,973,000 2, 229, 730, 000

222, 973, 000

165, 000, 000

165, 000, 000

2,229,730,000
27

1, 358, 237, 357

318, 625, 580

Stock issuances during the year

-

1, 101, 487, 000

Stock issuance costs

-

(61, 875, 223)

(1,374,420)

1, 358, 237, 357

1, 358, 237, 357

318, 625, 580

Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year
Forward
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320, 000, 000

2015
Number
Note of Shares

2014
Number
Amount of Shares

2013
Number
Amount of Shares

Amount

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year

661, 823, 627

106, 269, 584

92, 462, 396

Net income for the year

623, 988, 015

555, 890, 175

106, 649, 057

(111, 486, 500)

-

(92, 723, 894)

-

(336, 132)

(117, 975)

1, 174, 325, 142

661, 823, 627

106, 269, 584

2, 755, 535, 499

2, 243, 033, 984

589, 895, 164

(2, 602, 254)

-

-

5, 587, 141, 448

25, 192, 559

-

235, 625, 314

5, 467, 744, 924

-

Net income for the year

63, 377, 148

4, 957, 374

15, 405, 651

Effects of business combination

5, 400, 000

89, 246, 591

9, 904, 883

-

(117, 975)

5, 891, 543, 910

5, 587, 141, 448

25, 192, 559

P8, 644, 477, 155

P7, 830, 175, 432

P615, 087, 723

Cash dividends declared

27

Stock issuance costs

Balance at end of year
Remeasurement Loss on
Defined Benefit Liability
Non-controlling Interest
Balance at beginning of year
Share capital

29

Stock issuance costs

Balance at end of year
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows for theYears Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Cash Flows from
Operating Activities

Note

Income before income tax

2015
Amount

2014
Amount

2013
Amount

P895, 185, 056

P804, 078, 351

P170, 478, 070

Adjustments for:
Interest expense

15, 16, 18

114, 353, 234

37, 501, 634

9, 123, 095

Impairment loss on input value-added tax

10, 14, 21

18, 104, 261

-

-

11, 12, 21

8, 965, 701

5, 044, 824

4, 440, 452

24

1, 266, 360

-

-

7, 21

1, 098, 574

-

-

(811, 063, 913)

(455, 732, 211)

(127, 161, 634)

(120, 857, 833)

(30, 644, 040)

(18, 867, 956)

107, 051, 440

360, 248, 558

38, 012, 027

(417, 176, 041)

(331, 122, 332)

(197, 878, 306)

Depreciation and amortization
Retirement costs
Impairment loss on receivables
Unrealized gains from changes in fair values
of investment property
Interest income

13
6, 7, 14

Operating income before working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables
Real estate inventories

30

(396, 995, 636)

(1, 495, 777, 594)

(328, 241, 212)

Leasehold rights

30

-

(205, 115, 350)

-

(57, 537, 310)

(1, 030, 070)

27, 230, 023

(741, 130, 094)

(519, 317, 909)

(101, 872, 891)

763, 014, 564

706, 128, 794

27, 265, 104

(237, 866, 415)

289, 691, 488

(48, 995, 914)

-

-

(67, 843, 874)

272, 981, 081

243, 001, 865

11, 999, 698

(707, 658, 410)

(953, 292, 550)

(640, 325, 345)

Interest received

120, 205, 588

2, 274, 515

18, 246, 792

Interest paid

(89, 277, 502)

(50, 346, 301)

(6, 218, 426)

Income tax paid

(50, 322, 077)

(58, 468, 179)

(36, 195, 033)

(727, 052, 401)

(1, 059, 832, 515)

(664, 492, 012)

Due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Payable to other creditors
Due to related parties
Cash absorbed by operations

Net cash used in operating activities
Forward
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Cash Flows from
Investing Activities

Note

2015
Amount

2014
Amount

2013
Amount

11

(57, 654, 454)

(14, 374, 708)

(11, 827, 288)

Intangible asset and goodwill

12, 29

(26, 589, 473)

(66, 285, 903)

(2, 183, 939)

Investment property

13, 30

(8, 446, 718, 294)

(9, 767, 465, 400)

(32, 436, 012)

(839, 563, 784)

(134, 920, 674)

(53, 353, 927)

-

89, 246, 591

417, 386

Increase in non-controlling interest

304, 402, 462

5, 467, 744, 924

-

Net cash used in investing activities

(9, 066, 123, 543)

(4, 426, 055, 170)

(99, 383, 780)

7, 167, 707, 048

8, 688, 222, 998

54, 223, 994

453, 967, 116

-

Additions to:
Property and equipment

Increase in other noncurrent assets
Effects of business combinations

Cash Flows from
Financing Activities
Proceeds from availment of notes,
net of debt issue costs

840, 000, 000
16

Increase in other noncurrent liabilities
Payment of notes

16

(174, 000, 000)

(1, 050, 000, 000)

(1,050, 000, 000)

Cash dividends paid

27

(111, 486, 500)

-

(92, 723, 894)

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock

27

-

P1, 097, 584, 777

P112, 889, 630

6, 936, 444, 542

9, 189, 774, 891

860, 165, 736

(2,856,731,401)

3, 703, 887, 206

96, 289, 944

6

3,817,191,234

113, 304, 028

17, 014, 084

6

P960,459,833

P3, 817, 191, 234

P113, 304, 028

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net Increase (Decrease)
in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents
at Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents
at End of Year
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DoubleDragon Properties Corp. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

Reporting Entity
DoubleDragon Properties Corp., (“DD” or the “Parent Company”), was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on December 9, 2009 primarily to engage in the business of real estate development including
but not limited to residential and condominium projects, to acquire by purchase or lease land and interest in land, to own, hold,
impose, promote, develop, subdivide and manage any land owned, held or occupied by the Parent Company, to construct, manage
or administer buildings such as condominiums, apartments, hotels, restaurants, stores or other structures and to mortgage, sell,
lease or otherwise dispose of land, interests in land and buildings or other structures at any time.
The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) on April 7, 2014 under the stock symbol “DD”
(Note 27).
On June 23, 2015, the SEC approved the change in the Parent Company’s registered office address to DD Meridian Park Bay Area,
Corner Macapagal Avenue and EDSA Extension Boulevard, Brgy 76 Zone 10, San Rafael, Pasay City, Metro Manila. The Parent
Company also maintains its corporate office at 16th Floor, 6750 Building, Ayala Avenue, Makati City.

2.

Basis of Preparation
Statement of Compliance
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). PFRS consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs), and Philippine Interpretations.
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on April 14, 2016.

Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost basis of accounting except for
investment property which is measured using fair value.
Functional and Presentation Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Parent Company’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in Philippine peso has been rounded off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise stated.
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Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and the following subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”):

Subsidiaries

Percentage of Ownership
2015
2014

DoubleDragon Sales Corp. (DDSC) (a)

100

100

DoubleDragon Property Management Corp.* (DDPMC) (a)

100

100

DD-Meridian Park Development Corp. (DD-MPDC) (b)

70

70

DD HappyHomes Residential Centers Inc.** (DDHHRCI) (c)

70

70

CityMall Commercial Centers Inc. (CMCCI) (d)

66

66

Piccadilly Circus Landing Inc. (PCLI) (e)

50

50

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
*
**

Consolidated effective January 1, 2012.
Consolidated effective October 27, 2014.
Consolidated effective May 23, 2014.
Consolidated effective December 27, 2013.
Consolidated effective August 1, 2013.
Formerly “One Eleven Property Management Corp.”.
Formerly “Zion Land Development Ph., Inc.”.

DDSC
DDSC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on November 12, 2012 primarily to engage in the business of selling or marketing real
estate products, including but not limited to land, buildings, condominium units, town houses, apartments, house and lot packages and all
other forms of real estate products. DDSC has not started its commercial operations as at April 14, 2016.
DDPMC
DDPMC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on January 17, 2012 primarily to engage in maintaining, preserving, preparing and cleaning
buildings, condominiums, townhouses, hotels, amusement or recreational places, counters, office premises, factories, shops, equipment
and facilities. DDPMC started its commercial operations in 2015.
DD-MPDC
DD-MPDC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on October 27, 2014 primarily to engage in the business of real estate development
including but not limited to residential and condominium projects, to acquire by purchase or lease land and interest in land, to own, hold,
impose, promote, develop, subdivide and manage any land owned, held or occupied by the entity, to construct, manage or administer
buildings such as condominiums, apartments, hotels, restaurants, stores or other structures and to mortgage, sell, lease or otherwise dispose
of land, interests in land and buildings or other structures at any time. DD-MPDC has not started its commercial operations as at April 14, 2016.
DDHHRCI
DDHHRCI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on September 15, 2011 primarily to engage, operate and hold or manage real estate
business, to acquire by purchase, lease, donation or otherwise, own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, and
hold for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, whether improved, managed or otherwise, deal in or dispose of buildings, houses,
apartments, townhouses, condominiums, and other structure of whatever kind, together with the appurtenances or improvements found
thereon. DDHHRCI started its commercial operations in 2014.
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CMCCI
CMCCI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on December 27, 2013 primarily to engage in the business of commercial shopping
centers or malls, and for the attainment of this purpose, to construct, build, develop, operate and maintain commercial center or malls and
to perform all acts or trades necessary for its operation and maintenance, including but not limited to the preservation of commercial spaces
for rent, amusement centers, movie theater, performing arts center, children’s play area and hobby or gaming centers, parking lots and other
service facilities, within the compound or premises of the shopping centers. CMCCI has started its commercial operations in 2015.
CMCCI has the following subsidiaries which are also engaged in the real estate investment industry and are included in the consolidated
financial statements:

Subsidiaries

Percentage of Ownership
2015
2014

Prime DDG Commercial Centers Inc. (f)

70

70

CM-Goldenfields Bacolod Inc. (g)

70

-

CM-Tarlac MacArthur Inc. (h)

70

-

CM-Danao Cebu Inc. (i)

70

-

CM-Mandalagan Bacolod Inc. (i)

70

-

CM-Dipolog Zamboanga Inc. ( j)

70

-

(f) Incorporated and consolidated effective April 28, 2014.
(g) Incorporated and consolidated effective March 2, 2015.
(h) Incorporated and consolidated effective April 24, 2015.
(i) Incorporated and consolidated effective July 21, 2015.
( j) Incorporated and consolidated effective October 8, 2015.

PCLI
PCLI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on October 10, 2012 primarily to engage in owning, using, improving, developing, subdividing,
selling, exchanging, leasing and holding for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, including buildings, houses, apartments and other
structures. PCLI started its commercial operations in 2013.
The following table summarizes the financial information relating to the DD-MPDC, DD’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest
(NCI), before any intra-group eliminations:

2015
30.00%

December 31
2014
30.00%

Current assets

P667, 798, 655

P3, 207, 773, 142

Noncurrent assets

9, 858,708,689

7, 277, 256, 317

Current liabilities

(137,815, 419)

(151, 200, 749)

Noncurrent liabilities

(25, 659, 022)

-

10, 363, 032, 903

10, 333, 828, 710

NCI percentage

Net assets
Forward
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2015
30.00%

December 31
2014
30.00%

3, 108, 909, 871

3, 100, 148, 613

29, 203, 457

(13, 076, 967)

8, 761, 037

(3, 923, 090)

(167, 189, 803)

(109, 893, 688)

Cash flows from investing activities

(2, 281, 426, 857)

(1, 759, 777, 070)

Cash flows from financing activities

1, 850, 016, 570

3, 119, 847, 696

(P598, 600, 090)

P1, 250, 176, 938

Carrying amount of NCI
Net income (loss)/total comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss)/total comprehensive income (loss) allocated to NCI
Cash flows from operating activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity if, and only if, the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses
whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control.
When the Group has less than majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, rights
arising from other contractual arrangements and the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date when the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, using uniform accounting policies
for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Intergroup balances and transactions, including intergroup unrealized profits
and losses, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not attributable to the Parent Company and are presented
in the consolidated statements of income and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position, separately from the equity
attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company.
Non-controlling interests include the interests not held by the Parent Company in DD-MPDC, DDHHRCI, CMCCI and its subsidiaries and PCLI
in 2015 and 2014 (Note 29).
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses
control over a subsidiary, the Group: (i) derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interests and the cumulative transaction differences recorded in equity; (ii) recognizes the fair value of the consideration
received, the fair value of any investment retained and any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and (iii) reclassify the Parent Company’s share of
components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Consolidated Financial Statements

51

3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all the years presented in these consolidated financial
statements, except for the changes in accounting policies as explained below.

Adoption of Amendments to Standards
The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards starting January 1, 2015 and accordingly, changed its accounting
policies. The adoption of these amendments to standards did not have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
•

Annual Improvements to PFRSs: 2010 - 2012 and 2011 - 2013 Cycles - Amendments were made to a total of nine standards,
with changes made to the standards on business combinations and fair value measurement in both cycles. Earlier application
is permitted, in which case the related consequential amendments to other PFRSs would also apply. Special transitional
requirements have been set for amendments to the following standards: PFRS 2, PAS 16, PAS 38 and PAS 40. The following
are the said improvements or amendments to PFRSs, none of which has a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group:
•

Classification and measurement of contingent consideration (Amendment to PFRS 3). The amendment clarifies the
classification and measurement of contingent consideration in a business combination. When contingent consideration is
a financial instrument, its classification as a liability or equity is determined by reference to PAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation, rather than to any other PFRSs. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is always
subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Consequential amendments are
also made to PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 9, Financial Instruments to prohibit
contingent consideration from subsequently being measured at amortized cost. In addition, PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets is amended to exclude provisions related to contingent consideration.

•

Disclosures on the aggregation of operating segments (Amendment to PFRS 8). PFRS 8 has been amended to explicitly
require the disclosure of judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria. The disclosures include:
a brief description of the operating segments that have been aggregated; and the economic indicators that have been
assessed in determining that the operating segments share similar economic characteristics. In addition, this amendment
clarifies that a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets is required only if
this information is regularly provided to the entity’s chief operating decision maker. This change aligns the disclosure
requirements with those for segment liabilities.

•

Scope of portfolio exception (Amendment to PFRS 13). The scope of the PFRS 13 portfolio exception - whereby entities are
exempted from measuring the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting risk positions on
a net basis if certain conditions are met - has been aligned with the scope of PAS 39 and PFRS 9. PFRS 13 has been amended
to clarify that the portfolio exception potentially applies to contracts in the scope of PAS 39 and PFRS 9 regardless of
whether they meet the definition of a financial asset or financial liability under PAS 32 - e.g. certain contracts to buy or sell
non-financial items that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument.
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•

Definition of ‘related party’ (Amendment to PAS 24). The definition of a ‘related party’ is extended to include a management
entity that provides key management personnel (KMP) services to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group
entity. For related party transactions that arise when KMP services are provided to a reporting entity, the reporting entity is
required to separately disclose the amounts that it has recognized as an expense for those services that are provided by a
management entity; however, it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and disclose compensation paid
by the management entity to the individuals providing the KMP services. The reporting entity will also need to disclose other
transactions with the management entity under the existing disclosure requirements of PAS 24 - e.g. loans.

•

Inter-relationship of PFRS 3 and PAS 40 (Amendment to PAS 40). PAS 40 has been amended to clarify that an entity should
assess whether an acquired property is an investment property under PAS 40 and perform a separate assessment under
PFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the investment property constitutes a business combination. Entities will
still need to use judgment to determine whether the acquisition of an investment property is an acquisition of a business
under PFRS 3.

New Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretation Issued Not Yet Adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretation are effective for annual periods beginning after January
1, 2015. However, the Group has not applied the following new standards and interpretation in preparing these consolidated financial
statements. Unless otherwise stated, none of these is expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
The Group will adopt the following new standards and interpretation on the respective effective dates:
• PFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014). PFRS 9 (2014) replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
supersedes the previously published versions of PFRS 9 that introduced new classifications and measurement requirements
(in 2009 and 2010) and a new hedge accounting model (in 2013). PFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and
measurement of financial assets, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment, guidance on own credit
risk on financial liabilities measured at fair value and supplements the new general hedge accounting requirements published
in 2013. PFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting requirements that represent a major overhaul of hedge accounting and
introduces significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk management. The new standard is to be
applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption permitted.
•

PFRS 16 Leases supersedes PAS 17, Leases and the related Philippine Interpretations. The new standard introduces a single lease
accounting model for lessees under which all major leases are recognized on-balance sheet, removing the lease classification
test. Lease accounting for lessors essentially remains unchanged except for a number of details including the application of the
new lease definition, new sale-and-leaseback guidance, new sub-lease guidance and new disclosure requirements. Practical
expedients and targeted reliefs were introduced including an optional lessee exemption for short-term leases (leases with
a term of 12 months or less) and low-value items, as well as the permission of portfolio-level accounting instead of applying
the requirements to individual leases. New estimates and judgmental thresholds that affect the identification, classification
and measurement of lease transactions, as well as requirements to reassess certain key estimates and judgments at each
reporting date were introduced. PFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application
is not permitted until the FRSC has adopted PFRS 15. The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of PFRS 16 and plans
to adopt this new standard on leases on the required effective date once adopted locally.
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•

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to PAS 1) addresses some concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure
requirements and to ensure that entities are able to use judgment when applying PAS 1. The amendments clarify that:
•

Information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial information.

•

Materiality considerations apply to all parts of the financial statements, even when a standard requires a specific disclosure.

•

The list of line items to be presented in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income can be disaggregated and aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these
statements.

•

An entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate as single line
items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.

•

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Early adoption
is permitted.

Deferral of the local implementation of Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
•

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS
28). The amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS 10 and in PAS 28, in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full gain or
loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is
recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.
Originally, the amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 with early adoption
permitted. However, on January 13, 2016, the FRSC decided to postpone the effective date of these amendments until the
IASB has completed its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification of
accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and joint ventures.

Pending approval of local adoption of PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
•

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty
Programmes, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31, Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
The new standard introduces a new revenue recognition model for contracts with customers which specifies that revenue should
be recognized when (or as) a company transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the company
expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognized over time, in a manner that best reflects
the company’s performance, or at a point in time, when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The standard
does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other PFRSs. It also does not
apply if two companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties. Furthermore, if
a contract with a customer is partly in the scope of another PFRSs, then the guidance on separation and measurement contained in
the other PFRSs take precedence. However, the FRSC has yet to issue/approve this new revenue standard for local adoption pending
completion of a study by the Philippine Interpretations Committee on its impact on the real estate industry. If approved, the standard
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.
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Deferral of the local implementation of Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
•

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate applies to the accounting for revenue and
associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. It provides
guidance on the recognition of revenue among real estate developers for sales of units, such as apartments or houses, ‘off
plan’; i.e., before construction is completed. It also provides guidance on how to determine whether an agreement for the
construction of real estate is within the scope of PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or PAS 18, Revenue, and the timing of revenue
recognition.
The SEC issued a Notice dated August 5, 2011 to further defer the implementation of Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15,
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate until the final Revenue standard is issued by the IASB and after an evaluation on
the requirements and guidance in the said standard vis-à-vis the practices and regulations in the Philippine real estate industry
is completed.

The Group will assess the impact of the above new standards and interpretation on the consolidated financial statements upon
adoption in their respective effective dates.

Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or financial liability in the consolidated statements of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition is
done using settlement date accounting.
Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a
liability). The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated as at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
includes transaction costs.
Financial Assets
The Group classifies its financial assets, at initial recognition, in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL, loans and
receivables, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and held-to-maturity (HTM) investments. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every
reporting date.
The Group has no HTM investments, AFS financial assets and financial assets at FVPL as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and maturities that are not quoted
in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS
financial assets or financial assets at FVPL.
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Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method,
less any impairment in value. Any interest earned on loans and receivables is recognized as part of “Interest income” account in
the consolidated statements of income on an accrual basis. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The periodic amortization is also included as
part of “Interest income” account in the consolidated statements of income. Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss when
loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired.
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks which are stated at face value. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables, due from related parties and refundable deposits under “Prepaid expenses
and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts are included in this category (Notes 6, 7, 10, 14 and 22).

Financial Liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, at initial recognition, in the following categories: financial liabilities at FVPL and other
financial liabilities. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date. All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group has no financial liabilities at FVPL as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Other Financial Liabilities
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not designated or classified as at FVPL. After initial measurement, other financial
liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account
any premium or discount and any directly attributable transaction costs that are considered an integral part of the effective interest
rate of the liability. The effective interest rate amortization is included in “Interest expense” account in the consolidated statements
of income. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization
process.
The Group’s accounts payable and other current liabilities, notes payable, due to related parties and other noncurrent liabilities
(excluding payables to government agencies and unearned rent income) accounts are included in this category (Notes 15, 16, 18
and 22).

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognized
when:
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•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either: (a) has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset; or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes the associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on the basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses, at the reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event) and that loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost such as loans and receivables, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If no objective evidence of impairment has been identified for a particular financial asset that was individually assessed, the Group
includes the asset as part of a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses the group for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognized,
are not included in the collective impairment assessment.
Evidence of impairment for specific impairment purposes may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is
experiencing financial difficulty, default or delinquency in principal or interest payments, or may enter into bankruptcy or other
form of financial reorganization intended to alleviate the financial condition of the borrower. For collective impairment purposes,
evidence of impairment may include observable data on existing economic conditions or industry-wide developments indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows of the related assets.
If there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Time value is generally not considered when
the effect of discounting the cash flows is not material. If a loan or receivable has a variable rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate, adjusted for the original credit risk premium. For collective impairment
purposes, impairment loss is computed based on their respective default and historical loss experience.
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss for
the period is recognized in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity
From the perspective of the issuer, a financial instrument is classified as debt instrument if it provides for a contractual obligation
to:
•

deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;

•

exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the
Group; or

•

satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own
equity shares.

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset to settle its contractual
obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Debt Issue Costs
Debt issue costs are considered as an adjustment to the effective yield of the related debt and are deferred and amortized using
the effective interest rate method. When a loan is paid, the related unamortized debt issue costs at the date of repayment are
recognized in profit or loss.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statements of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements,
and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Real Estate Inventories
Real estate inventories are properties that are acquired and developed or constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business,
rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation. They consist of acquisition cost of land and other related development
costs, capitalized borrowings and other capitalized costs.
These are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to make the sale.
The cost of real estate inventories recognized in profit or loss is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the
property and allocated to saleable area based on relative size.
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Leasehold Rights
Leasehold rights are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost consists of the prorated costs incurred in the
development and improvement of the property. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to make the sale.
The cost of leasehold rights recognized in profit or loss is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property
and allocated to saleable area based on relative size.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. These are initially recorded as assets and measured
at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are recognized in profit or loss as they are consumed in operations or expire with
the passage of time. These typically comprise prepayments for commissions, taxes and licenses and rental.
Prepaid expenses are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current assets when the cost of goods or
goods related to the prepaid expenses are expected to be incurred within one year. Otherwise, prepaid expenses are classified as
noncurrent assets.
Other current assets represent resources that are expected to be used up within one year after the reporting date. These typically
comprise advances to contractors and suppliers, input value-added tax (VAT), etc.

Business Combination
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred and included as part of “General and administrative expenses” account in the consolidated statements
of income.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and financial liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured at the acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: a) the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus b) the recognized
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus c) if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value
of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less d) the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment in value. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually
or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.
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The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts
are generally recognized in profit or loss. Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or
equity securities that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, are expensed as incurred. Any contingent
consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is
not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill in a Business Combination
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:
•
•

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and
is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with PFRS 8.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units,
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit or group of cashgenerating units and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed
of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained. An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is not reversed.

Non-controlling Interests
The acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and
therefore no goodwill is recognized as a result of such transactions. Any difference between the purchase price and the net assets
of the acquired entity is recognized in equity. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of
the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, except land, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any accumulated
impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment at the time the cost is incurred, if
the recognition criteria are met, and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing. Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its construction cost or purchase price, including import duties, taxes and
any directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred
after the asset has been put into operation, such as repairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized as expense
in the period the costs are incurred. Major repairs are capitalized as part of property and equipment only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the items will flow to the Group and the cost of the items can be measured reliably.
Construction in progress (CIP) represents structures under construction and is stated at cost. This includes the costs of
construction and other direct costs. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of property and equipment
are capitalized during the construction period. CIP is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are ready for use.
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Depreciation and amortization, which commence when the assets are available for their intended use, are computed using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets:

Useful Life in Years
Leasehold improvements

5 or lease term, whichever is shorter

Equipment and showroom

5

Furniture and fixtures

5

The remaining useful lives, residual values, and depreciation and amortization methods are reviewed and adjusted periodically, if
appropriate, to ensure that such periods and methods of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern
of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment.
The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized when either it has been disposed of or when it is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the retirement and
disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period of retirement and disposal.

Computer Software Licenses
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line
basis over an estimated useful lives of five years as the lives of these intangible assets are considered limited.
The carrying amount of computer software licenses is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Investment Property
Investment property consists of properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Initially, investment property is
measured at cost including certain transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property, is stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. The fair value of investment property is determined by independent real
estate valuation experts based on recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and location to those of the Group’s
investment property. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment property are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
Investment property of the Group is mainly composed of land, building and construction-in-progress.
Investment property is derecognized either when it is disposed of or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement and disposal of investment property is recognized
in profit or loss in the period of retirement or disposal.
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Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation
or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when,
there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of the owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view
to sell.
For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property or real estate inventories, the deemed cost of property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change
in use.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The carrying amounts of property and equipment and computer software licenses are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, and if the carrying
amount exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable
amounts. The recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The fair value
less costs of disposal is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.
After such a reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the
Group.
The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interest.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
•

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

•

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the categorization at the end of each reporting
period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when: (a) the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events; (b) it
is probable (i.e., more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and (c) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is
expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received. The amount recognized for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
Capital Stock
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of common shares are recognized
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Additional Paid-in Capital
Additional paid-in capital represents the amount received in excess of the par value of the capital stock issued.
Stock issuance costs are transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares accounted for as a deduction
from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. Such costs are deducted from additional paid-in capital arising from the share
issuance. If the additional paid-in capital is insufficient to absorb such expenses, the excess shall be charged to stock issuance
costs to be reported as a contra equity account as a deduction from the following in the order of priority: (1) additional paid-in
capital from previous stock issuance; (2) retained earnings.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent the accumulated net income or losses, net of any dividend distribution.
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Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognized:
Real Estate Sales
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts. Revenue is recognized to the
extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
For financial reporting purposes, revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method as permitted by FRSC when all
the following conditions are met:
•

Equitable interest is transferred to the buyer;

•

The Group is obliged to perform significant acts;

•

The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; and

•

It is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group.

Under this method, revenue is recognized as the related obligation is fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated
completion of a physical proportion of the contract work.
Nonrefundable reservation fees paid by prospective buyers which are to be applied against the receivable upon recognition of
revenue and the excess collections from buyers over the related revenue recognized based on the percentage of completion
method are included in the “Customers’ deposits” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
For income tax reporting purposes, income is recognized in full upon collection of at least 25% of the total contract price in the year
of sale. Otherwise, revenue from sale is deferred and recognized as income based on collection of installments.
Estimated loss on unsold units is recognized immediately when it is probable that the total project cost will exceed total contract
price.

Sale of Leasehold Rights
Revenue from sale of leasehold rights over mall stalls in the Dragon8 Shopping Center (the “Dragon8”) is recognized on the accrual
basis when the collectibility of sales price is reasonably assured.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method. Interest income from banks which is presented net
of final tax is recognized when earned.
Rent Income
Rent income on investment property is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Other Income
Other income consists of income other than those generated in the ordinary course of business. This is recognized on an accrual
basis.
Cost and Expense Recognition
Costs and expenses are recognized when they are incurred and are reported in the consolidated financial statements in the periods
to which they relate.
Cost of Real Estate Sales
The cost of real estate sales recognized in the consolidated statements of income upon sale is determined with reference to the
specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to saleable area based on relative size and takes into account the percentage of
completion used for revenue recognition purposes. It includes the following:
Land and Land Development Costs
Land and land development costs represent the cost for acquiring the land and preparing it for condominium site and
residential lots.
Construction Costs and Other Project Costs
Construction costs and other project costs pertain to accumulated costs for materials, labor and overhead incurred as at
reporting date.
Cost of Leasehold Rights
The cost of leasehold rights is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied. The cost consists of the
prorated building’s construction costs over which the corresponding leasehold rights are being sold.
Expenses are also recognized when a decrease in future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a
liability that can be measured reliably has arisen. Expenses are recognized on the basis of a direct association between costs
incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic
benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or
immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent that future economic benefits
do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition as an asset.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
(a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
(b) a renewal option is exercised or an extension is granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the
lease term;
(c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specific asset; or
(d) there is a substantial change to the asset.
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Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gives
rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d), and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b) above.

Operating Lease
Group as Lessee
Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Associated costs such as maintenance and insurance are expensed as incurred.
Group as Lessor
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are classified as operating
leases. Rent income from operating leases is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized as an expense over
the lease term on the same basis as rent income. Contingent rents are recognized as income in the period in which they are earned.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset otherwise
it’s expensed out. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and
expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use.
The amount of specific borrowing costs capitalized is net of the investment income on any temporary investment of the funds
pending expenditure on the asset. On the other hand, general borrowing costs capitalized is exclusive of any investment income
earned.

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected
to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Retirement Costs
The Parent Company has no established retirement plan for its permanent employees and only conforms to the minimum
regulatory benefit under the Retirement Pay Law (Republic Act No. 7641) which is of the defined benefit type. The cost of
providing benefits under the defined benefit retirement plan is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method.
Projected unit credit method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions
concerning employees’ projected salaries. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in
other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains and losses are also immediately recognized in equity and are not reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent period.
The defined benefit retirement liability is the aggregate of the present value of the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
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Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
• Service costs
• Net interest on the defined benefit retirement liability
• Remeasurements of defined benefit retirement liability
Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine settlements are recognized
as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.
Net interest on the defined benefit retirement liability is the change during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments, which is determined by applying the discount rate based on the government bonds to the defined benefit retirement
liability. Net interest on the defined benefit retirement liability is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss.
Remeasurements of defined benefit retirement liability comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Taxes
Current Tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax, however, is not recognized on temporary differences that arise from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date.
Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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VAT
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable
to, the taxation authority is included as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” or “Accounts payable and other
current liabilities” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Related Parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control and significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income for the period attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the
weighted average number of issued and outstanding common shares during the period, with retroactive adjustment for any stock
dividends declared. Diluted EPS is computed in the same manner.
Operating Segments
The Group’s operating segments are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services
provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.
Financial information on operating segments is presented in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. The Chief Executive
Officer (the chief operating decision maker) reviews management reports on a regular basis.
The measurement policies the Group used for segment reporting under PFRS 8 are the same as those used in the consolidated
financial statements. There have been no changes in the measurement methods used to determine reported segment profit or
loss from prior periods. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
Segment revenues, expenses and performance include sales and purchases between business segments. Such sales and
purchases are eliminated in consolidation.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets
are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting date (adjusting events) are
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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4.

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRSs require management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these judgments,
estimates and assumptions could result in an outcome that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the
affected asset or liability in the future.
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions are recognized in the period in which the
judgments and estimates are revised and in any future period affected.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:
Distinction between Real Estate Inventories, Leasehold Rights and Investment Property
The Company determines whether a property will be classified as real estate inventories, leasehold rights or investment property.
In making this judgment, the Company considers whether the property is held for sale in the ordinary course of business [real
estate inventories/leasehold rights] or which is held primarily to earn rental and capital appreciation and is not substantially for use
by, or in the operations of the Company [investment property] (Notes 9 and 13).
Distinction between Investment Property and Property and Equipment
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property. In making its judgment, the Group considers
whether the property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Property and equipment or
owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only to the property but also to the other assets used in
the production or supply process.
Property Acquisitions and Business Combinations
The Group acquires subsidiaries that own real estate properties. At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether the
acquisition represents the acquisition of a business. The Group accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an
integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the property. More specifically, consideration is made with regard to the extent
to which significant processes are acquired. The significance of any process is judged with reference to the guidance in PAS 40
on ancillary services. When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an acquisition of a
group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative
fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognized.
Determination of Control
The Parent Company determines control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with an entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Parent Company controls an entity if and only if the
Parent Company has all of the following:
a. power over the entity;
b. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and
c. the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the Parent Company’s returns (Note 29).
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Collectibility of the Sales Price
The Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group when the sales prices are collectible.
Collectibility of the contract price is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which is supported by the buyer’s initial and
continuous investments that motivates the buyer to honor the obligation. Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors such
as collections, credit standing of the buyer and location of the property.
Estimates and Assumptions
The key estimates and assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of
relevant facts and circumstances as at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from such
estimates.
Revenue and Cost Recognition
The Group’s revenue and cost recognition policies require management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect
the reported amounts of revenues and costs. The Group’s revenue from real estate sales is recognized based on the percentage
of completion. It is measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a physical proportion of contract work by
reference to the actual costs incurred to date over the estimated total costs of the project. Changes in estimate may affect the
reported amounts of revenue in real estate sales and receivables. There were no changes in the assumptions or basis for estimation
during the year.
Revenue and cost recognized related to real estate contracts amounted to P641.47 million and P370.60 million, respectively, in
2015, and P1,073.01 million and P573.34 million, respectively, in 2014 and P511.07 million and P373.75 million, in 2013, respectively
(Notes 19 and 22).

Allowance for Impairment Losses on Receivables, Due from Related Parties and Refundable Deposits
Provisions are made for specific and groups of accounts, where objective evidence of impairment exists. The Group evaluates these
accounts on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts. These factors include, but are not limited to, the length
of the Group’s relationship with the customers and counterparties, the current credit status based on third party credit reports
and known market forces, average age of accounts, collection experience and historical loss experience. The amount and timing of
the recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different methodologies. An
increase in the allowance for impairment losses would increase the recorded general and administrative expenses and decrease
current and noncurrent assets.
The Company recognized impairment loss on its receivables amounting to P1.10 million in 2015. No impairment loss is recognized
for due from related parties and refundable deposits in 2015, 2014 and 2013.
The combined carrying amounts of the Group’s receivables, due from related parties and refundable deposits amounted to
P840.53 million and P595.33 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Notes 7, 10, 14 and 22).

Write-down of Real Estate Inventories and Leasehold Rights
The Company writes-down the costs of real estate inventories and leasehold rights to net realizable value whenever net realizable
value becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels or other causes.
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Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made of the amount
the real estate inventories and leasehold rights are expected to be realized. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of
price or cost directly relating to events occurring after the reporting date to the extent that such events confirm conditions existing
at the reporting date.
No real estate inventories and leasehold rights were written down to their net realizable values in 2015 and 2014.
The combined carrying amounts of the Company’s real estate inventories and leasehold rights amounted to P2,640.40 million and
P2,448.52 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Notes 8 and 9).

Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment and Computer Software Licenses
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment and computer software licenses based on the period over which
the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment and computer software
licenses are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear,
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.
In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property and equipment and computer software licenses is based on collective
assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.
The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.
A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment and computer software licenses would increase recorded
depreciation and amortization expenses and decrease noncurrent assets. Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization amounted to P145.75 million and P95.86 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation and amortization of property and equipment amounted to P16.66 million and P8.90 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 11).
Computer software licenses, net of accumulated amortization amounted to P10.07 million and P3.56 million as at December 31,
2015 and 2014, respectively. Accumulated amortization of the computer software license amounted to P3.04 million and P1.84
million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 12).

Impairment of Goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least annually. This requires the estimation of value in use of the cashgenerating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating value in use requires management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and to choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill amounted to P84.28 million and P65.4 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively
(Notes 12 and 29).
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Fair Value Measurement of Investment Property
The Group carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognized in profit or loss. The Group
engages independent valuation specialists to determine the fair value. For the investment property, the appraisers used a valuation
technique based on comparable market data available for such property.
Investment property amounted to P19,929.92 million and P10,467.02 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Unrealized gains from changes in fair values of investment property recognized in profit or loss amounted to P811.06 million,
P455.73 million and P127.16 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Note 13).

Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets
The Group reviews its deferred tax assets at each reporting date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group’s
assessment on the recognition of deferred tax asset on deductible temporary difference and carryforward benefits of net operating
loss carry-over (NOLCO) is based on the projected taxable income in the following periods.
Deferred tax assets amounted to P418.81 million and P43.17 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 25).

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
PFRSs require that an impairment review be performed on property and equipment and computer software licenses when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Determining the recoverable amounts of
these assets requires the estimation of cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of
such assets. While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the consolidated financial
statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of
recoverable amounts and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the financial performance.
The combined carrying amounts of property and equipment and computer software licenses amounted to P155.82 million and
P99.42 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Notes 11 and 12).

Estimating Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation
Defined benefit retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number
of assumptions. These assumptions are described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and include discount rate
and salary increase rate.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each reporting period. It is the interest rate that should be used
to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the retirement obligations. In
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates on government bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid. The terms to maturity of these bonds should approximate the terms of the related
retirement obligation.
Other key assumptions for the defined benefit retirement obligation are based in part on current market conditions.
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While it is believed that the Group’s assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or
significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the Group’s defined benefit retirement obligation.
The present value of the defined benefit retirement obligation amounted to P4.98 million and nil as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (Note 24).

Provisions and Contingencies
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, sets up appropriate provisions for its present legal or constructive obligations, if any,
in accordance with its policies on provisions and contingencies. In recognizing and measuring provisions, management takes risk
and uncertainties into account.
No provision for probable losses arising from legal contingencies was recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in 2015, 2014 and 2013.
5.

Segment Information
Operating Segments
The reporting format of the Group’s operating segments is determined based on the Group’s risks and rates of return which
are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. The operating businesses are organized and
managed separately according to the nature of the products produced and services provided, with each segment representing a
strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.
The Group’s reportable segments are real estate development and real estate investment. The former segment is engaged in
the development of real estate assets to be held as trading inventory and for sale while the latter segment is engagement in the
acquisition and/or development of real estate assets that is held for rentals or for capital appreciation or both.
Others pertain to the segments engaged in marketing and property management activities.

Segment Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operating cash, receivables, real estate
inventories, prepayments and other current assets, property and equipment and computer software licenses, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization, investment property and other noncurrent assets. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities
and consist primarily of accounts payable and other current liabilities, customers’ deposits and other noncurrent liabilities. Segment
assets and liabilities do not include deferred taxes.
Inter-segment Transactions
Segment revenues, expenses and performance include sales and purchases between operating segments.
Major Customer
The Group does not have a single external customer from which sales revenue generated amounted to 10% or more of the total
revenues of the Group.
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Operating Segments
Analyses of financial information by business segment follow:

Real Estate
Development

Real Estate
Investment

Others

Eliminations

Consolidated

P641, 470, 191

P1, 067, 323, 371

P220, 141, 378

P-

P1, 928, 934, 940

270, 866, 116

955, 047, 877

-

-

(1, 225, 913, 993)

-

-

(436, 517, 080)

-

(436, 517, 080)

270, 866, 116

955, 047, 877

(436, 517, 080)

-

789, 396, 913

9, 617, 478

111, 236, 752

3, 602

-

120, 857, 833

(100, 178, 307)

(14, 174, 927)

-

-

(114, 353, 234)

92, 406, 500

6, 040, 888

836 158

-

99, 283, 545

Income taxes

(13, 463, 950)

(55, 828, 248)

(201, 904, 843)

-

(271, 197, 042)

Net Income

P259, 247, 837

P1, 002, 322, 341

(P637, 582, 163)

P -

P623, 988, 016

P16, 774, 581, 826

P20, 170, 989, 814

P -

(P13,664,670,205)

P23, 280, 901, 436

-

-

11, 940, 368, 969

(7, 811, 399, 273)

4, 128, 969, 696

P16, 774, 581, 826

P20, 170, 989, 814

P11, 940, 368, 969

(P21,476,069,478)

P27, 409, 871, 132

P159, 257, 437

P1, 033, 660, 668

P -

P-

P1, 192, 918, 104

-

-

32, 780, 589, 104

(15, 206, 536, 050)

17, 574, 053, 054

P159, 257, 437

P1, 033, 660, 668

P32, 780, 589, 104 (P15,206,536,050)

P18, 766, 971, 158

P5, 869, 846

P11, 743, 687, 826

P12, 571, 679

P-

P11, 762, 129, 351

1, 013, 714

2,891, 280

5, 060, 707

-

8, 965, 701

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2015
Net Revenues
External revenues

Results
Segment results
Unallocated corporate expenses
Results from operating activities
Finance income
Finance expense
Rent/other income

As at December 31, 2015
Other Information
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Total Assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Total Liabilities
Capital expenditures
Depreciation and amortization

The financial information as at and for the year ended December 31, 2014 were not presented since the Group had only one
reportable or operating segment in 2014 which is real estate development.
There were no intersegment sales recognized between the two reportable segments in 2015. Unallocated corporate expenses
consist of net operating expenses of the Parent Company. Assets of the individual segments mainly comprise of receivables, real
estate inventories, prepaid expenses and other current assets, property and equipment, investment property and computer
software licenses, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, and other noncurrent assets. Liabilities of the individual
segments include accounts payable and other current liabilities, customers’ deposits and other noncurrent liabilities. Capital
expenditures on noncurrent assets represent additions to property and equipment, computer software licenses and investment
property. Noncash expenses pertain to depreciation and amortization expense attributable to the two reportable segments.
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6.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

P4, 848, 000

P742, 000

14, 28

725, 161, 410

1,266, 449, 234

28

230, 450, 423

2,550, 000, 000

P960, 459, 833

P3, 817, 191, 234

Cash on hand
Cash in banks
Short-term placements

Cash in banks earn annual interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Short-term placements are made for varying periods of up to
three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn annual interest at the respective short-term
placement rates. Interest income from cash in banks and short-term placements amounted to P21.42 million, P5.84 million, and P0.22
million in 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.
7.

Receivables
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

P551, 309, 926

P472, 213, 749

Leasehold rights’ buyers

40, 553, 432

60, 181, 228

Condominium corporation

24, 400, 535

-

20, 000, 000

-

9, 676, 296

-

27, 746, 928

-

18, 127, 152

-

28, 388, 150

22, 928, 149

720, 007, 139

555, 323, 126

1, 098, 574

-

P719, 103, 845

P555, 323, 126

Installment contracts receivable
Receivables from:

Contractors
Tenants
Rent receivable

23

Advances to employees
Others

Less allowance for impairment loss
28

The details of installment contracts receivable follow:

Note
Installment contracts receivable
Less unearned interest income
Net installment contracts receivable
Less noncurrent portion
Current portion

28

2015

2014

P1, 052, 055, 956

P120, 336, 239

54, 614, 980

4, 269, 352

997, 440, 976

622, 740, 696

446, 131, 050

150, 526, 947

P551, 309, 926

P472, 213, 749

Installment contracts receivable from real estate buyers pertain to receivables from the sale of condominium and subdivision units.
These receivables are collectible in monthly installments over a period of one to five years. These non-interest bearing installment
contracts receivable are discounted using effective annual interest rates ranging from 6.00% to 10.00% that are specific to the
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tenor of the installment contracts receivable. Titles to real estate properties are not transferred to the buyers until full payment has
been made.
The details of receivables from leasehold rights buyers follow:

Note
Installment receivables from leasehold rights’ buyers
Less unearned interest income
Net installment receivables from leasehold rights’ buyers
Less noncurrent portion

28

Current portion

2015

2014

P141, 883, 733

P120, 336, 239

15, 759, 194

4, 269, 352

126, 124, 538

116, 066, 887

85, 571, 106

55, 885, 659

P40, 553, 432

P60, 181, 228

Receivables from leasehold rights buyers pertain to receivables from the sale of leasehold rights in Dragon8 (Note 12). These
receivables are collectible in monthly installments over a period of one to five years. These non-interest bearing installment
receivables from leasehold rights buyers are discounted using effective annual interest rates ranging from 10.00% to 12.00% that
are specific to the tenor of the installment receivables.
Other receivables include advances for marketing events, official business trips and other approved disbursements that are not
yet liquidated as at cut-off date. These advances are subject to liquidation within 30 days. This account also includes receivables
from buyers for taxes and registration fees advanced on their behalf.
The Group recognized impairment loss on its installment contracts receivable amounting to P1.10 million in 2015 (Note 21).
The total interest income recognized from the installment contracts receivable and receivables from leasehold rights’ buyers
amounted to P107.67 million, P24.50 million and P18.37 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
8.

Real Estate Inventories
Real estate inventories represent the cost of construction and development of completed and in-progress commercial and
residential units.
Details of the account consist of:

Note

2015

2014

13, 15, 18

P1, 751, 260, 391

P1, 288, 242, 818

W.H. Taft Residences

289, 797, 100

445, 956, 788

The Uptown Place

246, 186, 258

118, 802, 747

123, 070, 108

259, 613, 530

25, 628, 645

28, 146, 603

204, 461, 010

102, 645, 390

P2, 640, 403, 512

P2, 243, 407, 876

DD
The SkySuites Tower

Injap Tower

13

FirstHomes
DDHHRCI
Happy Homes Village
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29

The SkySuites Tower
On September 1, 2014, the Group acquired from Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (the “RCBC”) the unfinished commercial,
office and residential “The SkySuites Tower” in Quezon City for a total consideration of P700 million payable over four years. The
Group was required to deliver to RCBC an irrevocable standby letter of credit to guarantee the payment of the remaining balance
payable to RCBC. At the closing date of the transaction, RCBC delivered to the Group the physical possession and control over
“The SkySuites Tower”. Portion of the total acquisition cost of “The SkySuites Tower” and cost to be incurred in its development
and completion was recognized as part of “Real estate inventories” and “Investment property” accounts in the consolidated
statements of financial position for the parts pertaining to residential units for sale and commercial and office units held for leasing,
respectively.
W.H. Taft Residences
On November 5, 2012, the Group acquired and took over the development of W.H. Taft Residences (the “W.H. Taft”), a condominium
project along Taft Avenue in the City of Manila, from Philtown Properties, Inc. (the “Philtown”). The Group also acquired the land where
the W.H. Taft is located from the Landowner. The development of the W.H. Taft was formerly initiated under an unincorporated joint
venture agreement between Philtown and the Landowner.
The Uptown Place and Injap Tower
On December 27, 2013, the Group entered into an unincorporated joint venture agreement with Injap Investments, Inc. (“III”) for
the joint development of “The Uptown Place” at General Luna St., Iloilo City and “Injap Tower” at Mandurriao District, Iloilo City
(the “Projects”). The agreement stipulates that III shall contribute land and the Group shall finance and develop the Projects and
be exclusively responsible for the management and supervision of the construction of the Projects. In consideration for III’s land
contribution, the Group delivered some saleable units of the Projects to III. The costs incurred in the development of the Projects
are recorded as part of “Real estate inventories” and “Investment property” accounts in the consolidated statements of financial
position.
FirstHomes
In October 2012, the Group completed its first horizontal development project located at Navais, Mandurriao, Iloilo City. FirstHomes
is a 1.30 hectare townhouse project consisting of 112 units.
Happy Homes Village
On May 31, 2014, the Group established a horizontal, residential real estate project which offers four variations of units with varying
house and lot packages.
Real estate inventories recognized as “Cost of real estate sales” amounted to P370.60 million, P573.34 million and P373.75 million
in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Note 19).
Capitalized borrowing costs amounted to P91.36 million and P27.90 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 using 2.66% and
3.95% as capitalization rates, respectively (Note 16).
No inventory write-down was recognized on real estate inventories in 2015, 2014 and 2013.
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9.

Leasehold Rights
On June 16, 2014, the Group acquired a parcel of land and an unfinished building located in Divisoria, Manila which was renamed as
Dragon8. The aforesaid property consists of commercial spaces for lease and leasehold rights which are offered for sale. Portion
of the total acquisition costs of Dragon8 and cost to be incurred in its development and completion were recognized as part of
“Leasehold rights” and “Investment property” accounts for the parts of leasehold rights’ held for sale and commercial spaces held
for lease, respectively (Notes 9 and 13).
In 2015, the Group approved the change in the business model and plan for the remaining unsold leasehold rights’ spaces. Beginning
2015, the unsold units are intended either for leasehold rights’ sale or for rental purposes. As a result of the foregoing transaction, the
“Leasehold rights” account’s balance which amounted to P205.12 million as at December 31, 2014 was transferred to “Investment
property” account due to change in use. The aforesaid reclassification was done since the leasehold rights over mall stalls units are
created and sold at the date of sale (Notes 9 and 13).
Revenue and cost recognized related to leasehold rights’ sales which are presented under “Sale of leasehold rights” and “Cost of
leasehold rights” accounts amounted to P140.49 million and P24.07 million in 2014, respectively (Notes 7, 9 and 19).

10.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

14, 21

P942, 935, 146

P238, 512, 429

31

133, 657, 185

181, 493, 311

33, 070, 837

131, 640, 562

34, 751, 941

13, 173, 673

29, 454, 642

-

Commission

14, 283, 190

14, 283, 190

Others

33, 867, 194

4, 924, 604

2, 991, 830

1, 839, 578

57, 713, 216

14, 377, 605

P1, 282, 725, 181

P600, 244, 952

Input VAT - net
Advances to contractors and suppliers
Creditable withholding taxes
Prepaid expenses
Rent

14, 22, 23

Taxes

Refundable deposits
Other current assets

14, 23, 28

Input VAT represents accumulated input taxes from purchases of goods and services for business operations and purchases of
materials and services for the building and leasehold construction which can be applied against future output VAT.
The Company derecognized input VAT amounting to P18.10 million in 2015.
Advances to contractors and suppliers represent amount paid as downpayments to contractors and suppliers to facilitate the
initial construction of the Group’s projects.
Creditable withholding taxes pertain to taxes withheld by the Group’s customers which can be applied against any future income
tax liability.
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11.

Property and Equipment
The movements and balances of this account consist of:

Note

Leasehold
Equipment
Furniture Construction
Land* Improvements and Showroom and Fixtures
in Progress

Total

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2014

P -

P10, 441, 011

P7, 869, 779

P4, 078, 998

P3, 326, 393

P25, 716, 181

-

619, 286

4, 856, 997

1, 529, 783

7, 368, 642

14, 374, 708

80, 986, 000

(5, 625, 000)

-

(10, 695, 035)

64, 665, 965

80, 986, 000

5, 435, 297

12, 726, 776

5, 608, 781

-

104, 756, 854

-

2, 762, 203

47, 641, 448

7, 250, 802

-

57, 654, 453

80, 986, 000

8, 197, 500

60, 368, 224

12, 859, 583

-

162, 411, 307

-

1, 967, 834

2, 178, 096

1, 130, 928

-

5, 276, 858

-

945, 220

2, 321, 271

869, 606

-

4, 136, 097

Transfer/reclassification

-

(515, 625)

-

-

-

(515, 625)

Balance, December 31, 2014

-

2, 397, 429

4, 499, 367

2, 000, 534

-

8, 897, 330

-

1, 291, 698

4, 733, 679

1, 737, 387

-

7, 762, 764

-

3, 689, 127

9, 233, 046

3, 737, 921

-

16, 660, 094

December 31, 2014

P80, 986, 000

P3, 037, 868

P8, 227, 409

P3, 608, 247

P -

P95, 859, 524

December 31, 2015

P80, 986, 000

P4, 508, 373

P51, 135, 178

P9, 121, 662

P - P145, 751, 214

Additions
Transfer/reclassification

13

Balance, December 31, 2014
Additions

Balance, December 31, 2015
Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
Balance, January 1, 2014
Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

21

21

Balance, December 31, 2015
Carrying Amount

* The “Land” account pertains to DD’s investment property which is being leased out to its subsidiary, CMCCI. For consolidation purposes, the aforesaid property is recognized as part of
“Property and Equipment - Land” account since it is owner-occupied. Moreover, the recognized rental income of DD was accordingly eliminated in the consolidated statements of income.

12.

Computer Software Licenses and Goodwill - net
This account consists of:
Goodwill
Computer software licenses - net

Note

2015

2014

29

P84, 281, 386

P65, 396, 523

10, 066, 049

3, 564, 376

P94, 347, 435

P68, 960, 899
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Goodwill comprises the excess of the acquisition costs over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of DDHHRCI
acquired by the Group in 2014. The goodwill was computed based on fair values of net assets acquired.
The movements and balances of the “Computer software licenses” account consist of:

Note

2015

2014

P5, 403, 143

P4, 513, 763

Additions

7, 704, 610

889, 380

Balance at end of year

13, 107, 753

5, 403, 143

1, 838, 767

930, 040

1, 202, 937

908, 727

3, 041, 704

1, 838, 767

P10, 066, 049

P3, 564, 376

Cost
Balance at beginning of year

Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginning of year
Amortization for the year

21

Balance at end of year

The computer software licenses have been built, installed or supplied by the manufacturer ready to operate or require some
customization based on the Group’s specific requirements.
13.

Investment Property
This account consists of:

Note
January 1, 2014
Assets acquired through Business Combination

P169, 795, 110

P309, 002, 797

7,642, 636, 573

-

847, 339, 783

8,489, 976, 356

264, 739, 982

-

814, 779, 157

1, 079, 519, 139

(80, 986, 000)

5, 625, 000

10, 695, 035

(64, 665, 965)

-

168, 405, 796

(168, 405, 796)

-

-

193,559,789

3, 894, 491

197, 454, 280

59, 431, 427

85, 563, 415

310, 737, 369

455, 732, 211

30

8, 025, 029, 669

453, 154, 000

1, 988, 835, 149

10, 467, 018, 818

8

3, 294, 551, 177

-

5, 198, 834, 938

8, 493, 386, 115

9, 30

-

-

158, 441, 229

158, 441, 229

1, 103, 337, 851

(307, 787, 798)

15, 513, 861

811, 063, 913

P12,422,918,697

P3,202,257,985

8

11

8, 30

Unrealized gains from changes in fair values of
investment property
December 31, 2014
Additions/reclassifications
Transfer from leasehold rights
Unrealized gains from changes in fair values of
investment property
December 31, 2015

80

Total

P -

Reclassifications
Transfers from real estate inventories

Building Construction in Progress

P139, 207, 687

Additions
Transfers to/from property and equipment

Land

P4,304,739,693 P19,929,916,375

The following table provides the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s investment property as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Date of Valuation

2015

Level 2
2014

Land

Various

P12, 422, 918, 697

P8, 025, 029, 669

Commercial

Various

7, 264, 620, 678

2, 400, 369, 270

Corporate/office

Various

242, 377, 000

246, 735, 229

P19, 929, 916, 375

P10, 672, 134, 168

The Group’s investment property is stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed by an accredited
independent appraiser. The fair values of the investment property were arrived at using the Market Data and Cost Approaches.
Market data approach is an approach that considers available market evidences. The aforesaid approach is based on sales
and listings of comparable property registered within the vicinity. The technique of this approach requires the establishment of
comparable property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a common denominator. This is done by adjusting
the differences between the subject property and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparable. The properties used as
basis of comparison are situated within the immediate vicinity of the subject property.
Cost approach is a comparative approach to the value of the building and improvements or another asset that considers as a
substitute for the purchase of a given property, the possibility of constructing another property that is a replica of, or equivalent to,
the original or one that could furnish equal utility with no undue cost resulting from delay. It is based on the reproduction cost (new)
of the subject property or asset, less total (accrued) depreciation, plus the value of the land to which an estimate of entrepreneurial
incentive or developer’s profit/loss is commonly added.
Capitalized borrowing costs amounted to P563.43 million and P61.60 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 using 2.66% and
3.95% as capitalization rates, respectively. The Group also capitalized rent expenses which were incurred for the rental of land
properties where ongoing construction of CityMall branches are situated (Note 16).
Rent income earned from the investment property amounted to P116.55 million, P6.05 million and P4.03 million in 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively, which is shown as part of “Rent income” account in the consolidated statements of income. The operating lease
commitments of the Group as a lessor are fully disclosed in Note 23.
The Group recognized unrealized gains from changes in fair values of investment property amounting to P811.06 million, P455.73
million and P127.16 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Revenue and cost recognized related to leasehold rights’ sales which are presented under “Sale of leasehold rights” and “Cost of
leasehold rights” accounts amounted to P139.7 million and P8.36 million in 2015, respectively (Notes 7, 9, 13 and 19).
The total direct operating expense recognized in profit or loss arising from the Group’s investment property that generated rental
income amounted to P69.93 million, P3.12 million and P0.47 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. On the other hand, the
Group recognized total direct operating expense of P13.47 million, P11.81 million and nil in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for
investment property that are not yet leased out.
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14.

Other Noncurrent Assets
This account consists of:
Advances to contractors and suppliers
Refundable deposits - net of current portion
Prepaid rent - net of current portion
Input VAT - net of current portion
Restricted cash

Note

2015

2014

10, 31

P929, 805, 994

P -

23, 28

59, 866, 053

37, 134, 552

23

58, 880, 566

35, 953, 785

10, 21

5, 981, 516

78, 552, 761

6

-

60, 000, 000

-

2, 677, 003

P1, 054, 534, 129

P214, 318, 101

Others

Refundable deposits pertain to non-interest bearing deposits paid to and held by the Group’s lessors which are refundable at the
end of the lease term. The refundable deposits included as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position pertain to deposits to lessors with terms of one year or less. Noncurrent refundable
deposits included in “Other noncurrent assets” account are discounted using the effective annual interest rates ranging from
4.75% to 5.77% that are specific to the tenor of the refundable deposits. The difference between the discounted and face values of
the refundable deposits was recognized as part of “Prepaid rent” account which is amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease
term and is recognized in profit or loss as additional rent expense in “General and administrative expenses - Rent” account. On the
other hand, interest is accreted on these refundable deposits using the effective interest rate method and is recognized as part of
“Interest income” account in the consolidated statements of income.
The details of refundable deposits follow:

Note

2015

2014

P100, 549, 472

P68, 796, 097

Less discount on refundable deposits

37, 691, 589

29, 821, 967

Net refundable deposits

62, 857, 883

38, 974, 130

2, 991, 830

1, 839, 578

P59, 866, 053

P37, 134, 552

Refundable deposits

Less current portion

10

Noncurrent portion

The movements in the unamortized discount on refundable deposits follow:

2015

2014

P29, 821, 967

P -

Additions

8, 521, 867

30, 125, 180

Accretion

(652, 245)

(303, 213)

P37, 691, 589

P29, 821, 967

Balance at beginning of the year
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Restricted cash pertains to the sum of money of PCLI set aside for a project development. In 2015, the particular fund was released
from restriction and is now used to finance the ongoing construction of PCLI’s Umbria Commercial Center (the “Umbria”).
Interest income earned for these refundable deposits amounted to P0.65 million, P0.30 million and nil in 2015, 2014 and 2013
respectively.
15.

Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

Trade payables

28

P572, 660, 342

P398, 964, 694

Retention payable

28

163, 494, 880

84, 205, 820

8, 18, 28

100, 000, 000

100, 000, 000

Deposits from unit owners

28

42, 263, 048

15, 209, 637

Commission payable

28

13, 889, 537

15, 614, 883

Payable to a landowner

28

12, 145, 000

38, 077, 716

Unearned rent income

18, 23

11, 191, 128

-

28

564, 329, 434

7, 120, 090

22, 28

51, 838, 340

132, 054, 368

-

31, 886, 124

Payable to RCBC

Accrued expenses
Project cost
Interest
Taxes
Professional fee

28

-

1, 216, 254

Others

28

758, 096

11, 482, 387

5, 242, 428

-

65, 450, 177

4, 341, 589

P1, 603, 262, 410

P840, 247, 846

Withholding tax payable
Other payables

28

Trade payables are liabilities arising from services provided by the contractors and subcontractors. These are non-interest bearing
and are normally settled within 30 days.
Retention payable pertains to the amount retained by the Group from its payment to contractors to cover cost of contractors’
noncompliance with the construction of the Group’s projects.
As a result of the acquisition of The SkySuites Tower, the Group recognized a total non-interest bearing liability to RCBC of P565
million and P665 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, payable over four years and presented as part of “Accounts
payable and other current liabilities” and “Other noncurrent liabilities” accounts in the consolidated statements of financial position.
The total amount of the Group’s obligation to RCBC was discounted using effective interest rate of 5.60%. Interest is accreted on
this non-interest bearing liability using the effective interest rate method and is recognized as part of “Interest expense” account in
the consolidated statements of income.
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16.

Notes Payable
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

P8, 475, 000, 000

P840, 000, 000

Availments

7, 225, 000, 000

8, 685, 000, 000

Payments

(174, 000, 000)

(1, 050, 000, 000)

15, 526, 000, 000

8, 475, 000, 000

Less current portion

4, 274, 000, 000

649, 000, 000

Noncurrent portion

11, 252, 000, 000

7, 826, 000, 000

137, 500, 808

96, 756, 628

P11, 114, 499, 192

P7, 729, 243, 372

Balance at beginning of the year

28

Less debt issue costs

On May 18, 2015, the Group obtained a total of P5.00 billion unsecured, bilateral long-term loans from a financing institution with
scheduled drawdown dates. The Group has already drawn P3.00 billion out of the total approved loan amount as at December 31,
2015. The loan payments are to be made in five consecutive annual installments to commence at the end of the 36th month after
the initial drawdown date. The Group pays interest on the outstanding principal amount of the loan on each interest payment date
for the interest period then ending at a fixed rate per annum determined on the interest rate setting date equal to the higher of: (i)
the applicable benchmark rate as determined by the lender by reference to the PDST-R2 rate plus a spread of 2.35% or (ii) 5.25%. The
proceeds from these borrowings were used by the Group to partly finance its capital expenditures for the development of additional
CityMall branches. As a result of the aforesaid transaction, the Group incurred debt issue costs amounting to P42.63 million.
On July 30, 2015, the Group obtained a total of P1.50 billion unsecured, bilateral, long-term loans from a financing institution with
scheduled drawdown dates. The Group has already drawn P1.00 billion out of the total approved loan amount as at December 31,
2015. The principal repayments are to be made in five annual amortizations equivalent to 5.0% of the total principal amount of the
loan amount drawn, beginning on the 36th month from initial drawdown date. The Group pays interest on the outstanding principal
amount of the loan on each interest payment date for the interest period then ending at a fixed rate per annum determined on
the interest rate setting date equal to the higher of: (i) the applicable benchmark rate as determined by the lender by reference to
the PDST-R2 rate plus 1.75 bps; or (ii) floor rate based on the prevailing Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas overnight rate plus 125 bps. The
proceeds from these borrowings were used by the Group to partly finance the development of The Meridian Park, a 4.75 hectare
ongoing, mixed-use development real estate property situated in Pasay City. As a result of the aforesaid transaction, the Group
incurred debt issue costs amounting to P14.66 million.
On October 30, 2014, the Group obtained a total of P7.40 billion unsecured, bilateral long-term loans from various financing
institutions. The loan payments are to be made in seven consecutive annual installments to commence at the end of the 12th
month after the initial borrowing date. The Group pays interest on the outstanding principal amount of the loan on each interest
payment date for the interest period then ending at a fixed rate per annum determined on the interest rate setting date equal to the
higher of: (i) the applicable benchmark rate as determined by the lender by reference to the PDST-R2 rate plus a spread of 2.00% or
(ii) 6.00%. The proceeds from these borrowings were used by the Group to partly finance its capital expenditures, primarily for the
development of The Meridian Park, the Dragon8, The SkySuites Tower and roll-out of the first 12 CityMalls and for general corporate
purposes. As a result of the aforesaid transaction, the Group incurred debt issue costs amounting to P84.59 million and P98.77
million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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In 2013, the Group obtained unsecured, short-term and long-term borrowings from local financing institutions amounting to P1.14
million which are payable on various dates up to 2016. In 2014, the Group obtained additional unsecured, short-term borrowings
amounting to P1.285 billion. The proceeds from these borrowings were used for working capital purposes more specifically in the
development of the Group’s on-going projects. The interest rates on these short-term and long-term borrowings are repriced
monthly based on negotiated rates or prevailing market rates.
The debt agreements contain, among others, covenants relating to maintenance of certain financial ratios, working capital
requirements, restrictions on loans and guarantees, disposal of a substantial portion of assets, capital expenditures, significant
changes in the ownership, payments of dividends and redemption of capital stock.
The Group is in compliance with the covenants of the debt agreements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.
The movements in debt issue costs are as follows:

2015

2014

P96, 756, 628

P -

131, 084, 109

98, 773, 337

Amortization

(16, 548, 772)

(2, 016, 709)

Balance at end of year

P211, 291, 965

P96, 756, 628

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions

Interest expense, exclusive of the capitalized borrowing costs, recognized in profit or loss amounted to P120.86 million, P37.50 million
and P9.12 million in 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Total capitalized borrowing costs charged under “Real estate inventories” and
“Investment property” accounts amounted to P654.79 million and P89.50 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively
(Notes 8 and 13).
Amounts due beyond one year are shown under “Long-term notes payable - net of debt issue costs” account in the consolidated
statements of financial position.
17.

Customers’ Deposits
Customers’ deposits represent nonrefundable reservation fees paid to the Group by prospective buyers which are to be applied
against the installment contracts receivable upon recognition of revenue. This account also includes excess collections from
buyers over the related revenue recognized based on the percentage of completion method.
The breakdown of customers’ deposits as at December 31 is as follows:
Current
Noncurrent

2015

2014

P57, 805, 095

P230, 608, 277

111, 346, 839

176, 410, 072

P169, 151, 934

P407, 018, 349
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18.

Other Noncurrent Liabilities
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

9, 15, 28

P394, 379, 626

P507, 492, 642

Accrued rent expense

23, 28

117, 610, 953

25, 406, 401

Security deposits

23, 28

91, 724, 199

16, 705, 271

23

9, 731, 372

3,321, 385

P613, 446, 150

P552, 925, 699

Payable to RCBC

Others

Accrued rent expense pertains to the excess of rent expense over rental payments made to lessors in accordance with PAS 17,
Leases.
The security deposits account pertains to deposits collected from tenants for the lease of the Group’s investment property. These
deposits are non-interest bearing and refundable at the end of the lease term. Security deposits are discounted using the effective
interest rates ranging from 5.28% to 6.00% that are specific to the tenor of the deposits. The difference between the discounted
value and face values of security deposits was recognized as part of “Unearned rent income” account which is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term and is recognized in profit or loss as additional rent income in the “Rent income” account in
the consolidated statements of income. Interest is accreted on these security deposits using the effective interest rate method
and is recognized as part of “Interest expense” account in the consolidated statements of income.
Interest expense for the amortization of security deposits amounted to P0.20 million in 2015 and 2014 and nil in 2013.
The details of security deposits follow:

2015

2014

Balance at beginning of the year

P16, 705, 271

P19, 477, 399

Additions

83, 545, 888

-

Discount

(8, 526, 960)

(2, 772, 128)

Balance at end of year

P91, 724, 198

P16, 705, 271

The movement in the unamortized discount on security deposits follows:

2015

2014

Balance at beginning of the year

P2, 772, 128

P -

Additions

5, 956, 403

2, 930, 617

Accretion

(201, 571)

(158, 489)

P8, 526, 960

P2, 772, 128

Balance at end of year
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19.

Costs of Real Estate Sales and Leasehold Rights
The cost of real estate sales consists of:

Note

2015

2014

2013

P314, 177, 121

P507, 769, 212

P295, 428, 194

Land and land development costs

37, 775, 458

39, 013, 812

58, 285, 966

Other project costs

18, 651, 496

26, 555, 399

20, 040, 404

P370, 604, 075

P573, 338, 423

P373, 754, 564

Construction costs

8

The cost of leasehold rights consists of the prorated building’s construction costs which amounted to P8.36 million, P24.07 million
and nil in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Notes 9 and 13).
20. Selling Expenses
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

2013

P67, 164, 278

P35, 393, 295

P13, 150, 414

33, 962, 001

20, 582, 135

3, 313, 737

4, 847, 380

4, 896, 180

3, 476, 695

3, 598, 699

8,314, 980

2, 647, 601

Representation

889, 853

290, 086

42, 171

Transportation and travel

356, 725

354, 296

985, 776

113, 972

-

2, 097, 989

848, 200

-

P113, 030, 897

P70, 679, 172

P23, 616, 394

Marketing
Commission
Rent

22c, 23

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Retirement costs
Miscellaneous

24
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21.

General and Administrative Expenses
This account consists of:

Note

2015

2014

2013

P148, 298, 133

P95, 634, 330

P14, 655, 461

75, 561, 221

31, 297, 507

15, 126, 912

Outsourced services

37, 910, 146

8, 539, 047

3, 287, 587

Electricity and water

35, 955, 709

13, 269, 254

7, 920, 360

10, 14

18, 104, 261

-

-

22c, 23

15, 628, 046

18, 661, 175

15, 993, 588

Professional fees

15, 479, 442

6, 563, 099

8, 147, 983

Transportation and travel

14, 047, 180

2, 582, 871

1, 342, 289

Printing and office supplies

9, 753, 005

2, 383, 344

1, 545, 959

8, 965, 701

5, 044, 824

4, 440, 452

Representation

6, 839, 413

1, 454, 426

1, 365, 343

Donations

5, 554, 424

1, 220, 547

923, 100

Insurance

5, 216, 261

973, 837

201, 339

4, 335, 575

1, 442, 310

1, 091, 369

Taxes and licenses
Salaries, wages and other benefits

Impairment loss on input VAT
Rent

Depreciation and amortization

22f

11, 12

Communications
Management fees

22b

3, 032, 836

2, 678, 571

2, 678, 571

Retirement costs

24

1, 152, 388

-

-

7

1, 098, 574

-

-

1, 212, 862

983, 592

2, 167, 221

20, 457, 042

8, 101, 922

4, 076, 190

428, 602, 219

P200, 830, 656

P84, 963, 724

Impairment loss on receivables
Repairs and maintenance
Miscellaneous
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22.

Related Party Transactions
The Group, in the normal course of business, has transactions with its related parties as follows:

Category

Outstanding Balances
Ref/ Amount of
Due from
Due to
Year Note Transaction Related Parties Related Parties

Terms and Conditions

Parent Company’s Key
Management Personnel
Sales

Management fees

Rent expense

Cash advances granted

2015

a

P1,116,121

P -

P -

20% down payment and 80% collectible in cash;
no impairment

2014

a

1,004,509

-

-

20% down payment and 80% collectible in cash; no
impairment

2013

a

86,917,998

-

-

20% down payment and 80% collectible in cash; no
impairment

2015

b

2, 678, 571

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2014

b

2,678,571

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2013

b

2,678,571

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2015

c

3,584,449

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2014

c

3,395,181

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2013

c

3,587,668

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2014

d

-

880,070

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

2015

e

266,192,013

-

544,871,305

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2014

e

280,679,292

-

280,679,292

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2015

d

58,417,380

58,567,380

8,789,068

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

2014

d

150,000

150,000

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

2015

c

5,231,283

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

2015

28

P58,567,380

P553,660,373

2014

28

P1,030,070

P280,679,292

Other Related Parties
Land acquired

Cash advances received

Rent income
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a. Sale of Real Estate Inventories
The Group sold condominium units to its key management personnel amounting to P1.16 million, P1.00 million and P86.92
million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Note 8).
b. Executive Management Services Agreement
The Group entered into an agreement with a shareholder for executive corporate, strategic, administrative and financial
oversight services relative to the real estate business of the Group. The term of this agreement is one year effective January
1, 2012. This is renewable under the same terms and conditions upon mutual agreement of the parties. On August 26, 2015,
the Group’s BOD authorized the extension of the aforesaid agreement from January 1 to December 31, 2016 with revised
management fee of P3.00 million, payable on a quarterly basis. The fee, which includes staffing costs for services rendered by
the shareholders, amounted to P2.68 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013.
c. Lease of Showrooms and Sales Office
The Group leases showrooms and sales office from III and Jollibee Foods Corporation (JFC), respectively. The terms of the
lease are three to five years, renewable for the same period under the same terms and conditions. The rent shall escalate by
7% to 10% each year (Notes 20 and 21).

Lease of Land and Mall Spaces
The Group entered into various lease agreements with related parties covering its investment property portfolio. These leases
generally provide for either fixed monthly rent subject to escalation rates or a certain percentage of gross sales. The terms of
the leases are for periods ranging from 5 to 15 years. The fixed monthly rent shall escalate by an average of 5% to 10% each year
(Note 23).
d. Cash Advances
The amount pertains to unsecured, non-interest bearing advances granted to and received from related parties for working
capital requirements. These advances are generally settled within one year from the date of grant.
e. Land Acquisitions
The Group has outstanding liabilities to minority shareholders of PDDG and CM-DZI amounting to P383.28 million and P161.59
million, respectively, for the acquisition of certain parcels of land which will be used in the on-going CityMalls and The Meridian Park.
The above-stated unsecured, non-interest bearing liabilities are to be settled by the Group in 2016.
f.
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Key Management Personnel Compensation
The short-term benefits of other key management personnel amounted to P18.61 million, P0.48 million and nil in 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

23.

Leases
Group as Lessee
The Group leases office and parking spaces and showrooms. The terms of the lease are for periods ranging from one to five years,
renewable for the same period under the same terms and conditions. The rent shall escalate by an average of 5% to 10% each year.
The Group also entered into various noncancellable operating lease agreements covering certain parcels of land wherein some of
the CityMalls will be situated or are being constructed. The terms of the leases are for periods ranging from 26 to 40 years. The rent
shall escalate by an average of 5% to 10% each year.
The Group is required to pay advance rental payments and refundable deposits on its leases. These are shown under “Prepaid
expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts, respectively, in the consolidated statements of
financial position (Notes 10 and 14).
Rent expense included as part of “Selling and General and administrative expenses” amounted to P20.48 million, P23.56 million
and P19.47 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Notes 20 and 21). Rent expense capitalized as part of “Investment Property
- CIP” account amounted to P83.84 million, P34.42 million and nil as at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Note 13).
The scheduled maturities of noncancellable minimum future rental payments are as follows:

2015

2014

Less than one year

P111, 909, 673

P98, 312, 773

Between one and five years

446, 785, 450

332, 672, 844

2, 518, 340, 525

1, 832, 629, 530

P3, 077, 035, 648

P2, 263, 615, 147

More than five years

Group as Lessor
The Group leases out a parcel of land included in its investment property under an operating lease agreement. The lease is for a
period of ten years from March 30, 2013 until March 29, 2023 and includes an annual escalation rate of 5% starting on the third year
and every year thereafter.
The Group also leased out some of its commercial units in DD’s Injap Tower, The Uptown Place and Dragon8 projects and in
CMCCI’s community malls to tenants who in return are required to pay advance rentals and security deposits shown under “Other
noncurrent liabilities” account in the consolidated statements of financial position (Notes 18 and 28).
Rent income amounted to P116.55 million, P6.05 million and P4.03 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Note 22).
The scheduled maturities of noncancellable minimum future rental collections are as follows:

2015

2014

Less than one year

P111, 909, 673

P28, 525, 700

Between one and five years

446, 785, 450

130, 714, 345

2, 518, 340, 525

87, 243, 174

P3, 077, 035, 648

P246, 483, 219

More than five years
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24.

Retirement Benefits
The Parent Company does not have an established retirement plan and only conforms to the minimum regulatory benefit under
Republic Act. No. 7641, The Retirement Pay Law, which is of the defined benefit type and provides a retirement benefit equal to 22.5
days’ pay for every year of credited service for employees who attain the normal retirement age of sixty (60) with at least five (5)
years of service.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) is shown below:

2015
P -

Beginning of year
Transitional liability

3, 717, 505

Current service cost

1, 266, 361
P4, 983, 866

End of year

Retirement costs recognized in profit or loss amounted to P1.27 million in 2015 which were charged as follows:

Note

2015

General and administrative expenses

21

P1, 152, 388

Selling expenses

20

113, 972
P1, 266, 360

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

2015
Discount rate

4.89%

Future salary increases

5.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on the 2001 CSO Table - Generational. The average expected remaining working
life of employees retiring at the age of 60 is 29.7 for both males and females.
The weighted-average duration of DBO is 21.4 years as at December 31, 2015.
The DBO is exposed to actuarial, longevity and interest rate risks.
The Parent Company has no plans to make contributions in 2016.

Sensitivity Analysis
The calculation of the DBO is sensitive to the assumptions set out above. The following table summarizes how the impact on the DBO
at the end of the reporting period would have increased (decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 1%:

Discount rate (1% movement)
Future salary growth (1% movement)
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Increase

DBO
Decrease

P1, 208, 267

(P926, 970)

1, 135, 568

(894, 962)

While the Parent Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences between actual
experience and assumptions may materially affect the recognized income and expenses and related assets or obligations.

Maturity Profile of the DBO

2015
Carrying Amount Contractual Cash Flows Within 1 Year Within 1-5 Years More than 5 Years
DBO

P4, 983, 866

P10, 668, 542

P-

P619, 908

P10, 048, 634

Asset-liability Matching Strategies to Manage Risks
The Group does not have a formal retirement plan and therefore has no plan assets to match against the liabilities under the
retirement obligation.
Funding Arrangements
The Group does not have a formal retirement plan, benefit claims under the retirement obligations are paid directly by the Group
when they become due.
25.

Income Taxes
Income tax expense consists of:
Current
Deferred

2015

2014

2013

P893, 979, 778

P116, 808, 650

P24, 010, 409

177, 321, 390

126, 422, 153

24, 412, 953

P271, 197, 041

P243, 230, 803

P48, 423, 362

The reconciliation of the income tax expense computed at the statutory income tax rate to the actual income tax expense as
shown in profit or loss is as follows:
Income before income tax
Income tax at the statutory income tax rate

2015

2014

2013

893, 979, 778

P804, 078, 351

P170, 478, 070

P268, 193, 933

P241, 223, 505

P51, 143, 421

4, 620, 824

3, 367, 203

2, 618, 978

500, 741

-

-

(1, 588, 044)

(1, 195, 639)

(5, 339, 037)

(530, 413)

(164, 266)

-

P271, 197, 041

P243, 230, 803

P48, 423, 362

Income tax effects of:
Nondeductible expenses
Unrecognized DTA
Interest income subjected to final tax
Nontaxable income
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The components of the Group’s deferred tax assets, relating to temporary differences are shown below.

2015

2014

P303, 526, 427

P43, 166, 862

Unearned interest income on installment contracts receivable

43, 097, 401

-

Accrued rent expense

42, 942, 901

-

MCIT

20, 668, 859

-

Unearned rent income

5, 263, 502

-

Retirement benefits liability

1, 495, 160

-

Unrealized loss on fair value measurements

1, 485, 781

-

329, 572

-

P418, 809, 603

P43, 166, 862

NOLCO

Impairment loss on contracts receivables

The components of the Group’s deferred tax liabilities, relating to temporary differences are shown below.

2015

2014

P420, 205, 404

P175, 754, 713

Borrowing costs

146, 315, 542

15, 809, 221

Excess of financial realized gross profit over taxable realized gross profit

132, 285, 881

17, 388, 646

Unamortized debt issue costs

63, 387, 589

-

Unearned rent income

11, 022, 182

7, 583, 768

Depreciation expense on depreciable investment property

6, 007, 667

-

Accrued rent income

5, 922, 945

-

P785, 147, 211

P216, 536, 348

Unrealized gains on fair value measurements

The details of the Group’s NOLCO which are available for offsetting against future taxable income are as follows:

Year Incurred Amount Incurred

Applied

Expired Remaining Balance Year of Expiration

2015

P439, 971, 044

P -

P -

P439, 971, 044

2018

2014

142, 659, 379

4,696,697

-

137, 962, 682

2017

2013

351, 545

-

-

351, 545

2016

2012

377, 582

-

377, 582

-

2015

P143, 388, 506

P4, 696, 697

P377, 582

P578, 285, 271

The NOLCO pertains to net losses sustained by the Group’s subsidiaries.
The Group’s MCIT of P0.71 million which was incurred in year 2014 was claimed as deduction against current year’s tax liability.
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26.

Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share (EPS) is computed as follows:
Income attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company (a)
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outstanding (b)
Basic and diluted EPS (a/b)

27.

2015

2014

2013

P559, 405, 589

P555, 890, 174

P106, 649, 057

2, 229, 730, 000

1, 961, 047, 500

123, 550, 000

P0.2509

P0.2835

P0.8632

Equity
The Parent Company was originally 100%-owned by III, a domestic corporation.
On June 29, 2012, III entered into an agreement with Honeystar Holdings Corporation (HHC), a domestic corporation. HHC invested
in the Parent Company by subscribing to 300,000 new common shares for a total issue price of P250.00 million or P833.33 per
share. This represents 50% of the outstanding capital stock of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2012. Consequently, HHC
enjoys all rights, privileges and benefits, and has all the corresponding obligations of a shareholder owning 50% of the outstanding
capital stock of the Parent Company. The Parent Company is now a joint venture between III and HHC.
On April 10, 2013, the BOD approved the increase in the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock from 80 million common
shares at P100 par value per share to 500 million common shares at P1 par value per share. Out of the aforementioned increase
in authorized capital stock, a total of 105 million common shares with aggregate par value of P105 million have been subscribed
and fully paid in cash equally between III and HHC. In relation to the foregoing, the Parent Company incurred stock issuance costs
amounting to P1.37 million in 2013 which is charged under “Additional paid-in capital” account in the consolidated statements of
financial position. The aforesaid increase in authorized capital stock was approved by the SEC on November 25, 2013.
On November 12, 2013, the BOD approved the decrease in the Parent Company’s par value of capital stock from P1 to P0.10 per
share. The decrease in par was approved by the SEC on February 10, 2014.
On January 30, 2014, the Parent Company filed with the SEC a Notice of Filing of Registration Statement for the registration of up to
579,730,000 common shares with par value of P0.10 per share, to be offered by way of a primary offer.
On March 24, 2014, in accordance with the certificate of permit to offer securities for sale issued by the SEC, 579,730,000 common
shares of the Parent Company with par value of P0.10 per share were registered and offered for sale at an offer price of P2.00 per
share. The Parent Company’s public ownership percentage and total number of shareholders are 25.64% and 34, respectively, as
at December 31, 2015 and 15.60% and 98, respectively, as at December 31, 2014.
On June 25, 2015, the BOD declared cash dividends of P0.05 per share, amounting to P111.46 million to stockholders of record as at
July 13, 2015 and were paid on July 27, 2015.
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28.

Financial Risk and Capital Management Objectives and Policies
Objectives and Policies
The Group has significant exposure to the following financial risks primarily from its use of financial instruments:
•
•
•

Credit Risk
Liquidity Risk
Interest Rate Risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risks, and the Group’s management of capital.
The main purpose of the Group’s dealings in financial instruments is to fund its respective operations and capital expenditures.
The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The BOD has
established the Executive Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies.
The committee identifies all issues affecting the operations of the Group and reports regularly to the BOD on its activities.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. All risks faced by the Group are incorporated in the annual
operating budget. Mitigating strategies and procedures are also devised to address the risks that inevitably occur so as not to affect
the Group’s operations and forecasted results. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group’s principal financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, receivables, due from related parties and refundable
deposits. These financial assets are used to fund the Group’s operations and capital expenditures.

Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk of loss the Group would incur if credit customers and counterparties fail to perform their contractual
obligations. The risk arises principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables, due from related parties and
refundable deposits. The objective is to reduce the risk of loss through default by counterparties.
Exposure to credit risk is monitored primarily through credit reviews and analysis of receivables on a continuous basis. Customer
payments are facilitated by post-dated checks. Exposure to bad debts is not significant as titles to real estate properties are not
transferred to the buyers until full payment has been made. There are no large concentrations of credit risk given the Group’s
diverse customer base.
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The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting period follows:

Note

2015

2014

Cash and cash equivalents*

6

P955, 611, 833

P3, 816, 449, 234

Receivables**

7

1, 177, 813, 200

761, 735, 733

22

58, 567, 380

1, 030, 070

10, 14

100, 549, 492

38, 974, 130

P2, 292, 541, 905

P4, 618, 189, 167

Due from related parties
Refundable deposits***

*Excluding “Cash on hand” account.
** This includes both current and noncurrent portions of the account.
*** This is presented as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts.

The following is the aging analysis per class of financial assets that are past due but not impaired as at December 31:

2015
Receivables*
Due from related parties
Refundable deposits**

Neither Past Due
Year
nor Impaired

Past Due but not Impaired
More than
1 to 30 Days
31 to 60 Days
60 Days

Impaired

Total

7

P1,151,157,222

P17,770,652

P -

P7,786,752

P1,098,574

P1,177,813,200

24

58,567,380

-

-

-

-

58,567,380

10, 16

100,549,492

-

-

-

-

100,549,492

P1,193,139,334

P17,770,652

P -

P7,786,752

P1,098,574 P1,336,930,072

* Including current and noncurrent portions.
** This is presented as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts.

2014
Receivables*
Due from related parties
Refundable deposits**

Past Due but not Impaired
More than
1 to 30 Days
31 to 60 Days
60 Days

Year

Neither Past Due
nor Impaired

7

P761,735,733

P -

P -

22

1,030,070

-

10, 16

38,974,130
P801,739,933

Impaired

Total

P -

P -

P761,735,733

-

-

-

1,030,070

-

-

-

-

38,974,130

P -

P -

P -

P -

P801,739,933

* Including current and noncurrent portions.
** This is presented as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts.
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The following is the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets:

Note

2015
High Grade Medium Grade Low Grade

Total

Cash and cash equivalents*

6

P955, 611, 833

P -

P -

P955, 611, 833

Receivables**

7

1,177, 813, 200

-

-

1,177, 813, 200

22

58, 567, 380

-

-

58, 567, 380

10, 14

100, 549, 492

-

-

100, 549, 492

P2, 292, 541, 905

P -

Due from related parties
Refundable deposits***

P - P2, 292, 541, 905

*Excluding “Cash on hand” account.
** This includes both current and noncurrent portions of the account.
*** This is presented as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts.

Note

2014
High Grade Medium Grade Low Grade

Total

Cash and cash equivalents*

6

P3, 816, 449, 234

P -

P -

P3, 816, 449, 234

Receivables**

7

761, 735, 733

-

-

761, 735, 733

22

1, 030, 070

-

-

1, 030, 070

10, 14

38, 974, 130

-

-

38, 974, 130

P4, 618, 189, 167

P -

P -

P4, 618, 189, 167

Due from related parties
Refundable deposits***

*Excluding “Cash on hand” account.
** This includes both current and noncurrent portions of the account.
*** This is presented as part of “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts.

The Group assessed the credit quality of unrestricted cash as high grade since this is deposited with reputable banks with low
probability of insolvency.
Receivable assessed as high grade pertains to receivable from buyer that had no default in payment; medium grade pertains to
receivable from buyer who has history of being 31 to 60 days past due; and low grade pertains to receivable from buyer who has
history of being over 60 days past due. Receivable balances are being monitored on a regular basis to ensure timely execution of
necessary intervention efforts. The Group performs credit investigation and evaluation of each buyer to establish paying capacity
and creditworthiness. The Group will assess the collectability of its trade receivables and provide a corresponding allowance
provision once the account is considered impaired.
The credit risks for due from related parties and refundable deposits are considered negligible since these accounts have high
probability of collection and there is no current history of default.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages liquidity
risks by forecasting projected cash flows and maintaining balance between continuity of funding and flexibility in operations.
Treasury controls and procedures are in place to ensure that sufficient cash is maintained to cover daily operational working capital
requirements. Management closely monitors the Group’s future and contingent obligations and set up required cash reserves as
necessary in accordance with internal requirements.
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Interest Rate Risk
The Group interest risk management policy is to minimize interest rate cash flow risk exposures to changes in interest rates. The
Group has short-term and long-term bank borrowings with fixed interest rates. Therefore, the Group is not subject to the effect of
changes in interest rates.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact
of netting agreements:

As at December 31, 2015
Contractual
1 Year
Cash Flow
or Less

Note

Carrying
Amount

Accounts payable and
other current liabilities*

15

P1,603,262,410

P1,603,262,410

P1,603,262,410

P-

P-

Notes payable**

16

15,406,260,238

19,388,238,291

4,999,291,256

3,657,916,783

10,731,030,252

Due to related parties

22

553,660,373

553,660,373

553,660,373

-

-

Other noncurrent
liabilities***

18

604,565,627

668,027,414

101,159,200

566,868,214

117,610,953

1 Year 5 Years

More than
5Years

2015

1 Year 5 Years

More than
5Years

Financial Liabilities

* Excluding statutory obligations.
** This includes both current and noncurrent portions of the account.
*** Excluding “Unearned rent income” account.

As at December 31, 2014
Contractual
1 Year
Cash Flow
or Less

Note

Carrying
Amount

Accounts payable and
other current liabilities*

15

P788,736,212

P788,736,212

P788,736,212

-

-

Notes payable**

16

8,475,000,000

9,368,360,850

76,634,779

1,553,695,791

7,891,299,838

Due to related parties

22

280,679,292

280,679,292

280,679,292

-

-

Other noncurrent
liabilities***

18

587,798,784

707,689,654

100,000,000

565,000,000

42,689,654

2015
Financial Liabilities

* Excluding statutory obligations.
** This includes both current and noncurrent portions of the account.
*** Excluding “Unearned rent income” account.
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Fair Values
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:
Cash and Cash Equivalents/Due from Related Parties/Refundable Deposits/Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities/
Due to Related Parties
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, due from related parties, refundable deposits, accounts payable and other
current liabilities, short-term notes payable and due to related parties approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term
nature of these financial instruments.
Receivables
The fair values of receivables are based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the applicable rates for similar types of
instruments. The fair value of other receivables is approximately equal to their carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of
this financial assets.
Refundable Deposits/Payables to RCBC/Security Deposits
Refundable deposits, payables to RCBC and security deposits are reported at their present values, which approximate the cash
amounts that would fully satisfy the obligations as at reporting date. These are classified as current assets or liabilities when they
become receivable or payable within a year.
Short-term Notes Payable/Long-term Notes Payable
The carrying amount of the long-term notes payable approximates their fair value since these are interest bearing financial liabilities.
Capital Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to increase the value of shareholders’ investment and maintain high growth
by applying free cash flows to selective investments. The Group sets strategies with the objective of establishing a versatile and
resourceful financial management and capital structure.
The BOD monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.
The BOD also monitors the level of dividends to shareholders.
The BOD seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Group defines capital as equity, which includes capital stock,
additional paid-in capital and retained earnings. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014. The Group is not subject to externally-imposed capital requirements.
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29.

Business Combinations
2014 Acquisition: DDHHRCI
On May 23, 2014, the Group entered into an Investment and Shareholders Agreement (ISA) with DDHHRCI to acquire 70% interest
of the latter. Similar with the Parent Company’s line of business, DDHHRCI is also engaged in real estate development industry
specifically in building horizontal residential projects. A total of P140 million cash was paid by the Parent Company to acquire the
70% interest in DDHHRCI. The ISA provides that the Parent Company shall enjoy all the rights, privileges and benefits, and have
all the corresponding obligations, of a shareholder owning 70% of the outstanding capital stock of DDHHRCI, including board
representation as at execution of the agreement or cut-off date. It is also explicitly written in the ISA that the Parent Company will
be the managing company. Based on the foregoing, the Parent Company acquired effective control and management of DDHHRCI
as at May 23, 2014. Accordingly, in accordance with PFRS 3, Business Combination, the Parent Company’s acquisition date of
DDHHRCI is May 23, 2014. However, for convenience purposes, the Group used May 31, 2014 as the cut-off date in determining
the net assets of DDHHRCI. DDHHRCI was incorporated on September 15, 2011. DDHHRCI is planned to be the Parent Company’s
horizontal residential project arm in the Visayas region.
In 2014, the Group used preliminary fair values of the identifiable net assets in calculating the goodwill as at acquisition date
amounting to P65.40 million. In 2015, the Group finalized its purchase price allocation which resulted in a goodwill amounting to
P84.28 million.
The following table summarizes the final amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

2014
Assets
Cash
Prepayments
Real estate inventories
Property and equipment - net

P1, 520, 543
3, 810, 464
232, 784, 000
661, 170
238, 776, 177

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Advances from stockholders

4, 530, 209
22, 469, 968
132, 177, 981
159, 178, 158

Fair value of net assets acquired
Acquisition cost
70% Interest in DDHHRCI

Goodwill

P79, 598, 019
P140, 000, 000
55, 718, 613
P84, 281, 387
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The final purchase price allocation resulted in an additional goodwill of P18.88 million which was recognized prospectively since the
impact in the 2014 balance is immaterial.
No impairment loss is recognized for the goodwill account.
The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on a valuation using cash flow projections covering a five-year
period based on long range plans approved by management. The growth rate used is 9.00% in 2015 which is consistent with the
long-term average growth rate for the industry. The discount rate applied to after tax cash flow projections is 10.81% in 2015.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based
would not cause its carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
The calculation of value in use are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Gross Margins. Gross margins are based on average values achieved immediately before the budget period. These are increased
over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements. Values assigned to key assumptions reflect past experience,
except for efficiency improvement.
Discount Rate. The Company uses the weighted-average cost of capital as the discount rates, which reflect management’s estimate
of the risk. This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals.
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined to be higher than its carrying amount in 2015. Hence,
management assessed that there is no impairment loss in the value of goodwill as at December 31, 2015.
The summarized financial information of DDHHRCI are as follows:
Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Revenues
Net income

2015

2014

P380, 973, 387

P302, 909, 422

4, 264, 225

11, 330, 965

147, 304, 038

100, 706, 753

7, 921, 761

7, 058, 238

116, 606, 807

96, 542, 556

23, 536, 417

18, 209, 550

The NCI has been measured at the proportionate share of the value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
The Group’s goodwill arising from DDHHRCI’s acquisition consists largely of the synergy and economies of scale expected from
combining the operations of DDHHRCI.
The Group did not incur any acquisition-related costs.
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2013 Acquisition: PCLI
On May 7, 2013, the Group entered into an ISA with the Aryanna Group of Investments Inc. (“Aryanna”) to acquire 50% interest in
PCLI. A total of P10.00 million cash was paid by the Parent Company to acquire the 50% interest in PCLI. In addition to the equity
investment, the Group will extend P90.00 million loan to PCLI. The ISA provides that in case of a voting deadlock in the Board
and/or at the shareholder level in respect of all matters relating the agreement, the issue shall be resolved in favor of the Parent
Company, thereby providing it with the ability to exercise control over PCLI. Accordingly, the Parent Company consolidated PCLI
from acquisition date.
PCLI was incorporated on October 10, 2012. It is set to develop Umbria, a 16,000 square meter premier lifestyle commercial center
development in Binan, Laguna and is currently leasing its property to a Jollibee store in the same area. The investment in PCLI is in
line with the Group’s plan to increase its leasable footprint and thereby generate recurring revenues.
In 2013, the Group used preliminary fair values of the identifiable net assets in calculating the goodwill as at acquisition date
amounting to P48 thousand. The amount of goodwill was not material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. In 2014,
the Group finalized its purchase price allocation which resulted in a bargain purchase gain amounting to P20.18 million. The said
bargain purchase gain did not have a material impact to the 2013 consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of income. Consequently, prior year’s financial information was not restated.
The summarized financial information of PCLI are as follows:

2015

2014

P91, 069, 784

P7, 477, 979

104, 165, 164

144, 442, 350

23, 122, 319

16, 888, 839

108, 864, 876

75, 822, 221

Revenues

5, 680, 097

5, 858, 979

Net income

4, 038, 484

8, 729, 033

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

30. Note to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The Group’s noncash activities follow:
a. transfer from “Real estate inventories” to “Investment property” account amounting to nil million and P198.02 million in 2015
and 2014, respectively (Notes 8 and 13);
b. transfer from “Leasehold rights” to “Investment property” account amounting to P158.44 million in 2015 (Notes 9 and 13).
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31.

Reclassification of Accounts
Various accounts in 2014 were reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. These accounts are as follows:

Note As Previously Presented

Adjustments As Currently Presented

Statements of Financial Position
Receivables

7

P732,366,911

(P177,043,785)

P555,323,126

Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net

10

423,201,167

177,043,785

600,244,952

Deferred tax liabilities - net

25

173,369,486

43,166,862

216,536,348

Deferred tax assets

25

-

43,166,862

43,166,862

•

The “Advances to contractors” account amounting to P177.04 million previously included under “Receivables” account
was reclassified to “Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net” account as this represents downpayments made to
contractors which are not collectible at the end of the construction agreement’s term, thus, these should not be recognized
as financial asset.

•

The deferred tax asset arising from NOLCO of the Group’s subsidiaries which was included under “Deferred tax liabilities - net”
account was reclassified to “Deferred tax assets” account as this particular tax asset should not be offset in the consolidated
financial statements.

The abovementioned reclassifications had an insignificant impact on the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position,
consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of cash flows as at and for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013. Consequently, comparatives have not been restated and a statement of financial position as at January 1, 2014 was not
presented by the Group because the impact in the financial position as at January 1, 2014 is immaterial.
32.

Events After the Reporting Date
a. Increase in Authorized Capital Stock and Creations of Non-Voting Preferred Shares and Senior Management Stock Option Plan
On November 11, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the increase in the authorized capital stock from P500 million to
P20.50 billion with par value of P100 per share. The aforesaid corporate act was ratified by the Parent Company’s stockholders
on January 5, 2016. On the same dates, the Parent Company’s BOD and stockholders also approved the creation and issuance
of 200,000,000 non-voting Preferred Shares with a par value of P100.00 per share and the creation of 45,504,693 options
underlying the Parent Company’s common shares to be issued pursuant to the Parent Company’s Management Stock Option
Plan (the “Plan”).
The Plan covers the senior management of the Parent Company as identified by the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
The Plan allows all covered senior management to acquire at market price at grant date such number of shares of stock not
exceeding 2% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Parent Company or 45,504,693 shares, after a vesting period
of three (3) years. The Plan will be effective on February 1, 2016.
The shares will be exercisable starting from their respective vesting dates up to seven (7) years from grant date.

104

At exercise date, the participants of the Plan can choose to either (i) exercise and hold by purchasing shares under his/her name
in which case the Parent Company will issue new shares to the participant in exchange for the exercise price or (ii) exercise and
sell in which the Parent Company will issue new shares and sell these shares in the market and in exchange the participant will
pay the Parent Company the exercise price while retaining the remaining proceeds from the sale.
b. Issuance of Non-voting Preferred Shares
On March 28, 2016, the SEC favorably considered the Amended Registration Statement of the Company covering the
registration of up to 50,000,000 Preferred Shares at an offer price of P100.00 per share (the “Preferred Shares Offering”),
subject to the conditions set forth in the pre-effective letter issued by the SEC on the same date.
On March 28, 2016, further to the authority granted by the BOD of the Company to management during the BOD meetings
on November 11, 2015 to fix the terms of the Preferred Shares Offering, management determined the terms of the Preferred
Shares (Terms of the Offer), including the initial dividend rate for the Preferred Shares at 6.48% per annum.
A summary of the Terms of the Offer is set out below:
The Company, through the underwriters and selling agents, offered up to 50,000,000 cumulative, non-voting, non-participating
and convertible peso-denominated Preferred Shares at an offer price of P100.00 per share during the period from
March 29, 2016 to April 7, 2016. The dividend rate was set at 6.4778% per annum with dividend payable once for every dividend
period defined as the period commencing on the Issue Date and having a duration of three (3) months, and thereafter, each of
the successive periods of three (3) months commencing on the last day of the immediately preceding Dividend Period up to but
excluding the first day of the immediately succeeding Dividend Period; provided that the first Dividend Period of the Preferred
Shares shall be the period commencing on the Issue Date and ending on the last day of the then current dividend period for the
Preferred Shares. If a Dividend Payment Date occurs after the end of a Dividend Period, there shall be no adjustment as to the
amounts of dividends to be paid.
The dividends on the Preferred Shares will be calculated on a 30/360-day basis.
On March 28, 2016, the SEC rendered effective the Registration Statement and other papers and documents attached thereto
filed by the Company, and issued the Order of Registration of Subscriptions to Preferred Shares amounting to P10.00 billion
cumulative, non-voting, non-participating, redeemable, convertible, perpetual Preferred Shares at an offer price of P100.00
per share. The Certificate of Permit to Offer Securities for Sale was issued by the SEC on the same date.
The Subscriptions to Preferred Shares will not be listed in the PSE. The Company intends to list the Preferred Shares once the
SEC approves the application for increase in the Company’s authorized capital stock, which will be filed immediately after the
end of the offer. The application for listing of said Preferred Shares shall be subject to the review and approval by the PSE.
c. Construction of Jollibee Tower
On February 11, 2016, the Parent Company entered into a construction agreement with a general contractor in relation to the
development of Jollibee Tower, a 40-storey commercial and office tower at Ortigas central business district. The construction
of Jollibee Tower is an unincorporated joint venture agreement of the Parent Company and JFC. The aforesaid project is
expected to contribute close to 48,000 square meters of leasable spaces to the Parent Company’s portfolio by 2018. The
groundbreaking of the project was held on March 7, 2016.
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